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I Chairman's Message

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, it is an honor to present Cairo
Amman Bank's 2019 Annual Report, highlighting the past year's most
prominent achievements.

The Jordanian economy grew by 2% in 2019 as the Central Bank
of Jordan (CBJ) reduced base interest rates three times in 2019 in
parallel to the US Federal Reserve's decision to cut US base interest
rates with further cuts expected in 2020. The Jordanian Dinar's peg
to the Dollar still offers significant support for the national economy,
backed by high foreign currency and gold reserves in the Kingdom.
The CBJ managed to increase the latter by JD 646 million, or almost
7%, by shifting toward borrowing from the local market through the
issuance of treasury bonds in USD, along with the 10.2% increase
in tourism income and an increase in remittances from Jordanians
working abroad.

Moreover, the economic stimulus packages launched by the
government are expected to have a positive impact on the national
economy, as several measures have been taken to support sectors
that witnessed modest growth during the past few years.

Despite the balance of credit facilities dropping by 3% in 2019, the net interest and commission income increased
by 3.1%, reaching JD 121.3 million compared to JD 117.6 million in 2018. Overall expenses and allocations also
increased by 2.8% to reach JD 91.9 million, while profit before income tax registered an increase of 5.3%, reaching
JD 44.2 million compared to JD 42 million the previous year. Profits allocated to the bank's investors after tax
deductions reached JD 28.1 million compared to JD 30.1 million. The decrease in profits after tax is due to the
increase in income tax during 2019.

Furthermore, total assets increased by 6.8% to reach JD 3.134 million, and customer deposits reached JD 2.051
million, a growth of 7.2%. CAB's investments in shares and bonds reached JD 814.4 million compared to JD 627.5
million in 2018. Through investments in financial assets, the bank aimed to balance between investing funds in
low-risk instruments and enhancing revenues while maintaining suitable levels of liquidity. CAB's liquidity rate
is aligned with global standards and monitoring entities' requirements, providing a source of assurance for all
stakeholders dealing with the bank. Credit facilities form 78% of customer deposits and represent the main source
of funding for the bank, contributing 65.4% of funding sources.

The bank was able to maintain the quality of its portfolio. The net rate of non-performing credit facilities reached
4.84% of total direct credit facilities, which is lower than the average of Jordan's overall banking sector.

Shareholder equity amounted to JD 349.9 million at the end of 2019 compared to JD 336.4 million at the end
of 2018, while the Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) stood at 18.01% in 2019 compared to 15.21% in 2018, which
is higher than the rates set by the Central Bank of Jordan (14.375% in 2019). The Leverage Ratio reached 9.9%,
placing CAB in the "well-capitalized" category in terms of credit ratings.

In 2020, the bank will continue to implement its strategic plans and policies to enhance its business operations.
Hence, emphasis will be placed on preserving its credit portfolio's quality and maintaining high liquidity ratios.
CAB will also work on enhancing performance efficiency, improving customer service levels, and expanding its
branches network to reach uncovered locations. Moreover, CAB will support local communities as part of its social
responsibility endeavors.

In closing, and on behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to extend my sincere gratitude to all shareholders
for their loyalty and support, and to our valued customers for their continued trust. | would also like to express my
deep appreciation for the employees across all positions and the Central Bank of Jordan for its dedicated efforts
and continuous support. We believe in CAB's ability to provide excellent banking services and are confident of its
potential to achieve better results in the upcoming years.

Yazid Adnan Mustafa Al-Mufti
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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The year 2019 was full of events and economic developments that led the Jordanian economy
to register a 1.9% growth during the first three quarters, a rate lower than that recorded over
the same period during 2018 and 2017. The World Bank projected that economic growth would
reach 2% at the end of 2019 compared to a growth rate of 1.9% in 2018. The inflation rate
increased by 0.34% during 2019 as well. Jordan was able to achieve these results despite the
political tensions surrounding the Kingdom, mainly the burdens of hosting Syrian refugees, the
political instability in Iraq, and the decrease in foreign aid granted to the Kingdom.

The Jordanian economy was able to face the challenges that rose in 2019, as exports increased
by 8.2% and imports decreased by 4.1% due to the global decrease in oil prices during the
first 11 months of 2019. Moreover, tourism revenue, which contributes around 14% of GDP,
increased by 10.2% in 2019 to reach JD 5.8 billion, boosted by an increase in tourist arrivals by
around 8.9% during 2019.

Nonetheless, the Jordanian economy registered some negative indicators, such as an increase
in the unemployment rate to 19.1% during Q3 of 2019 and an increase in the poverty rate to
15%.

Meanwhile, to preserve the strength of the Jordanian Dinar, the Central Bank of Jordan
continued to follow the lead of the US Federal Reserve by cutting base interest rates for key
monetary instruments three times by a total of 75 basis points. The CBJ was also able to maintain
FX reserve levels, which increased by 7.1% or $953 million in 2019.

The Jordanian economy faced many challenges that negatively impacted the economy, which
led to a positive yet low growth rate of 2.0% expected for 2019, compared to0 2.1% and 1.9% in
2017 and 2018 respectively. Yet these results were achieved despite the challenges and political
tensions surrounding the Kingdom, mainly the hosting of Syrian refugees, fluctuations in oil
prices, and the closure of the Jordanian-Iraqi and Jordanian-Syrian borders to national exports
until the end of 2019.

The increase in the Kingdom's FX reserves was supported by an increase in tourism income
and a 0.8% increase in remittances sent by Jordanians working abroad, as well as a shift in the
government's strategy towards borrowing from the local market in USD and the US aid of $745
million received at the time this report was drafted.

According to the Ministry of Finance, the country's public debt is expected to exceed JD 30.5
billion (97.6% of GDP) in 2019 compared to JD 28.3 billion (94.0% of GDP) at the end of 2018,
an increase of JD 2.2 billion from 2018 levels.



I Economic Highlight

Forecasts for 2020

The World Bank expects the Jordanian economy to continue its recovery thanks to the government's
clear emphasis on creating a suitable investment environment and attracting foreign investments.
It should be noted that the government has focused on developing new capital projects that create
job opportunities to reduce the unemployment rate which has approached 20%. An increase in
exports and a decrease in imports are also expected to have a positive impact on the economy.

Furthermore, the government is implementing a new tax law and adopting stricter tax evasion
penalties, which should positively impact government revenues. New economic ties with many
Arab and foreign countries are also expected to help stimulate economic growth. The improved
security situation in Syria and the reopening of border crossings for national exports, even partially,
should also contribute to an increase in exports, leading to positive economic growth in Jordan.

Public debt is expected to grow by JD 1.5 billion compared to the numbers registered in 2020, with
public debt as a percentage of GDP expected to reach 98%, while the government deficit is also
forecasted to increase to 4.7% of GDP compared to 4.2% in 2019.

In terms of the country's monetary policy, the CBJ is expected to continue following the measures
taken by the US Federal Reserve to preserve the Jordanian Dinar peg. Nevertheless, projections for
the US interest rate outlook remains unclear. Some economists expect the US Federal Reserve to cut
interest rates in Q2 of 2020 while others expect the Federal Reserve to start hiking rates.
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Oil Exporters:

Oil exporters are reaping the benefits of favorable global events, as central banks around the
world moved to cut interest rates and GCC countries were added to global stock and market
indices. This led to an inflow of foreign investment in the region's equities and bonds market,
boosting its economies in 2019.

However, the Gulf Economic Council's (GCC) overall growth is expected to reach 0.7% at the
end of 2019, a significant decrease from the 2% growth seen in 2018, essentially as a result of
reduced oil production in line with OPEC agreements. Despite these figures, GCC economies are
expected to recover in 2020 and register a growth of 2.5%, driven by a recovery of 1.9% in oil
GDP compared to a growth of 1.4% at the end of 2019.

In Iraq, the economic recovery remains below expected levels, despite a positive growth of
3.4% at the end of 2019, compared to the previous 0.6%, that signals the end of the deflation
the economy witnessed in 2019. This growth can primarily be linked to an increase in crude
oil production by 6.3% and a recovery in non-oil economic activities. The Iragi economy is
expected to grow by 4.7% in 2020.

Public finances are also expected to improve significantly in many oil-exporting countries as oil
prices and non-oil activities recover, and as some countries adopt targeted measures to increase
non-oil revenues such as implementing a VAT regime, seeking to attract foreign investments,
and finding new ways to increase tourism revenues, especially in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
and the United Arab Emirates.

Convenient global financial circumstances have allowed oil importers in the Middle East to
experience temporary relief as their economies are expected to witness an average growth
of 3.6% in 2019 compared to 4.3% in 2018. In 2020, this rate is expected to reach 3.7% as
the strong economic growth in Egypt continues to be a driving force behind overall growth
in the region, eclipsing weaker and more fragile growth in other countries, especially those
surrounded by geopolitical strains and the consequences of political conflicts.

Forecasts indicate that economic growth in oil-importing countries will be weaker in the coming
years, as elevated public debt levels and increasing funding costs not only hinder growth in the
region but also place immense pressure on public finances.

Furthermore, a combination of continuous social tensions, unemployment, and unfavorable
global consequences place economic policymakers with a difficult choice between building
protective financial margins and confronting challenges that hinder growth.



I Economic Highlight

Global Economy

Trade tensions between the United States and China, and economic strains in the Eurozone,
along with uncertainty surrounding Britain's exit from the European Union, negatively impacted
the global economy. Global economic growth is expected to reach 2.9% in 2019, down from
3.7% at the end of 2018 and 4% in 2017.

That said, the economic strain began to ease after European policymakers and the British
government reached an agreement on satisfactory terms for the UK's exit from the European
Union. As for the US and China, the agreement on the first stage of trade MOUs between the
two countries played a key role in the improved economic outlook for 2020, with expectations
of global growth to increase to 3.3%.

Meanwhile, US economic growth is projected to slow to 2.9% in 2019 from 3.6% in 2018 due
to the tensions arising from the US and China trade war along with other disputes over trade
agreements with members of the European Union and NAFTA.

This has led to expectations that the US Federal Reserve will cut interest rates during 2020, having
already cut them three times by 0.75% in 2019 amidst the fear and uncertainty surrounding
global economic growth and the failure of US inflation rates to reach the targeted levels.

As for the European Union, economic growth is expected to reach 1.2% in 2019 compared to
1.9% in 2018, while the European economy is expected to witness a growth of 1.3% in 2020.

The British economy is expected to grow by 1.3% in 2019, a similar level to that registered in
2018. The UK's economy is also expected to grow by 1.4% in 2020 based on the scenario that
decision makers reach an agreement on the terms of the UK's exit from the European Union.

On the other hand, China witnessed an economic slowdown, unprecedented during the past
30 years, as a result of weak local demand and trade tensions with the United States. It was
announced that the Chinese economy had witnessed its worst economic growth since 1990,
with a growth rate of 6.1% registered in 2019 compared to 6.2% in 2018.
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I Financial Position and Business Results

Financial Indicators and Ratios

(Amount in thousands (JD); except share price)

Variance

Major balance sheet items

Total assets 3,133,801 2,935,414 6,76%
Credit facilities - net 1,599,076 1,649,570 (3,06%)

Customers’ deposits 2,050,956 1,913,902 7,16%

Total equity 349,875 336,397 4,01%

Results of operations

Net interest & commission income 121,266 117,642 3,08%

Income from operating activities

(excluding investment income) 136,787 132,145 3.51%

Gross income 136,142 131,441 3,58%

Net income before income tax 44,208 41,984 5,3%

Net income after income tax 28,095 30,127 (6,74%)

Earning per share (JD) 0,148 0,159 (6,74%)

Financial ratios

Return of average assets 0,93% 1,05%

Return of average equity 8,19% 8,95%

rNaet'iccinterest & commission income to average assets 4,00% 411%

Capital adequacy ratio 18,01% 15,21%

Credit facilities to customers’ deposit ratio 77,97% 86,19%

Non-performing loans ratio 4,84% 4,24%

Non-performing loans coverage ratio 70,52% 69,46%

Financial Indicators for the Previous 5 Years

(Amount in thousands (JD);

except share price)

Net income before tax 41,168 35,056 30,336 30,127 28,095
Dividends paid 16,000 21,600 21,600 16,200 -
Bonus shares distributed 20,000 - - 10,000 -
Total equity 307,578 326,472 336,584 336,397 349,875
Outstanding shares 160,000 180,000 180,000 180,000 190,000
Market price per share (JD) 2,55 1,85 1,50 1,33 1,03
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I Financial Position and Business Results

Shareholders’ Equity

Total Assets

349,875
336,584 336397
326,472
307,578 I
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Credit Facilities - Net
1,649,570
1,599,076
1,537,937
1,356,279
1,114,240 I
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Non-Performing Loans Ratio

%4,84

%4,24
%3,94

%3,82

3,133,801
2,935,414
2,794,347
2,532,062
I 2,491,183
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Customers’ Deposits

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

2,050,956
1,913,902
1,749,865
1,570,016 1,547,446 I
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Provision Coverage

%96,55 %95,30
070,

%69,50

%77,78 %70,52

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

AN\
11




I Financial Position and Business Results

Financial Position
Total assets amounted to JD 3133,8 million, an increase of JD Public sector
198,4 million, or 6,76 %, as of the end of the previous year. The
gross credit facilities portfolio decreased by JD 44 million, or
2,55%, standing at JD 1677,4 million. CAB maintained its credit
portfolio quality as net non-performing facilities accounted
for 4,84% of total direct credit facilities, compared to 4,24%  <rorae
for the previous year, and the net credit facilities portfolio "
decreased by 3,06%, to reach JD 1599,1 million, compared to

Loans to SMEs
o

Retail loans
39.4%

JD 1649,6 million in 2018. CAB also maintains, in accordance Housing loans
with the instructions of the Central Bank of Jordan and Other liabilities
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS9), adequate shareheders equty 17 Eani g

Cash margins

Borrowings 1.9%

provision for non-performing loans, amounting to JD 67,2 7.8%
million. Hence, the coverage ratio of net non-performing
facilities stands at 70,52%.

Furthermore, Cairo Amman Bank’s investment balance in
stocks and bonds amounted to JD 814,4 million, compared to

Customers’ deposits

JD 627,5 million during 2018. 65.6%

CAB’s main goal with investing in financial assets is to achieve a balance in utilizing low risk
instruments, with higher returns, , while maintaining acceptable liquidity ratios.

Deposits and balances at banks increased by 19% to reach JD 246,8 million compared to JD 207,4
million the previous year. Cash and balances at central banks stood at JD 332,7 million compared to
JD 333,4 million during the previous year, maintaining the same level of liquidity.

CAB maintains liquidity ratios in correspondence with international standards and regulatory
requirements. This provides reassurance to CAB stakeholders: Credit facilities represent 77,97% of
customer deposits, which constitute CAB’s main source of funding, representing 65,4% of the total
sources of funds.

Total shareholder equity amounted to JD 349,9 million at the end of 2019, compared to JD 336,4
million by the end of the previous year. CAB’s dividend policy strengthened the Capital Adequacy
Ratio (CAR), which reached 18,01% in 2019, compared to 15,21% in 2017, exceeding the 14,375%
minimum level set by the Central Bank of Jordan. Furthermore, the core capital for risk-weighted
assets reached 16,5%, compared to 14,58% during the previous year, and the leverage ratio stood
at 9,39%, placing CAB within the “well-capitalized” category according to the solvency scale.

Y
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I Financial Position and Business Results

Analysis of Results of Operations

Profit before tax amounted to JD 44,2
million, compared to JD 42 million in 2018,
registering a 5,3% increase. Meanwhile, net
profit after income tax amounted to JD 28,1
million, compared to JD 30,1 million during
the previous year, bringing the earnings per
Shal"e to JD 01148! Compared to JD 01159 in B Netinterest  ENet M Financial W Other income

income commission  assets income
2018.

2019

2018

Gross income

Operationally, the net interest income rose
by 3,88%, reaching JD 102,1 million, compared to JD 98,3 million during 2018. Net commission
income slightly decreased, standing at JD 19,2 million. Meanwhile, CAB’s investment profit
stood at JD 3 million compared to JD 3,6 million the previous year. Other CAB revenues rose
by 16,3%, reaching JD 11,9 million. Hence, gross income increased by 3,58%, to reach JD 136,1
million, compared to JD 131,4 million during 2018. CAB’s operating income, resulting from
interests and commissions, continues to represent the largest component of gross income,
comprising 89,1%, compared to 89,5% in 2018.

Gross expenditure, on the other hand, including allocations for the impairment of credit facilities
and other allocations, increased by 2,77%, to stand at JD 91,9 million, whereby employee
expenditures increased by 2,06%, along with other operating expenses by JD 3,3 million or
11,5% due to the increase in CAB’s operational activities in general. The allocations for the
impairment of credit facilities amounted to JD 7,8 million, compared to JD 9 million during
2018, representing the amount that was deducted during the same year to enhance allocations
for the impairment of non-performing credit facilities.

Dividend Distribution

In line with Central Bank Circular No. 1/1/4693 dated 9 April 2020, licensed Jordanian banks are
to refrain from distributing dividends to shareholders for the fiscal year 2019, postponing their
dividend distribution until the 2020 closing statements.
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I Activities and Achievements

Retail Banking

Cairo Amman Bank launched its new subsidiary LINC Bank with the following branches: LINC Al
Abdali Boulevard, LINC University of Jordan, LINC Irbid, LINC Taj Mall. The new bank leverages
the latest digital banking technologies to provide easy, convenient and streamlined services to
the youth and modern banking technology users.

CAB also launched a reward program for savings accounts that offers valuable prizes to retain
and meet the needs of existing clients while also attracting new customers.

Regarding real estate loans, CAB offered real estate products, as part of assisted programs, to
help purchase empty plots and residential apartments in coordination with the owners of such
projects in various areas outside the capital Amman. The bank also launched a competitive real
estate loan with low interest rates to help purchase residential apartments across all regions.
The loan was accompanied by several advantages and exemptions to attract the highest possible
number of customers wishing to own the apartment of their dreams.

In terms of car loans, CAB amended grant programs, added more car dealerships to its
partnerships, and provided offers on dealership cars during special occasions in coordination
with company owners to encourage customers and increase the bank’s market share in the sector.
Collaboration agreements were signed with Hyundai, Kia, Toyota and other car dealerships.
CAB plans to include more dealerships in its car funding program.

For personal loans granted against salary transfers, CAB launched and extended special offers
with streamlined policies and procedures to allow a large number of existing and new customers
to benefit from the bank’s loan services.

As for bank cards, CAB offered an Offline Installment service through its customer care center
that allowed clients to pay in installments for their local or international purchases. In line
with technological advancements in e-payments, CAB focused on mobile payments through
CABPAY, becoming the first bank to offer this service for all types of cards.
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I Activities and Achievements

Corporate Banking Products and Services

The Corporate Banking Products and Services Department at CAB works on attracting and
building relationships with large corporations and SMEs to strengthen the bank’s competitive
standing in the provision of direct and indirect facilities and cross selling, which it considers
a source of profit. As part of its efforts to support the local economy, CAB continued to fund
all economic sectors. It increased the financing offered tothe tourism and hospitality sector,
especially in Petra and the camps of Wadi Rum, and touristic restaurants in Jerash and Ajloun.
CAB also provided low cost funding for the agricultural, industrial, ICT, and renewable energy
sectors through advance payments granted by the Central Bank of Jordan.

To continue its support to the SME and startup sector, CAB signed an agreement with SANAD,
the fund for small and medium enterprises, to support Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises and
empower women through revenue generating projects that can help reduce unemployment rates.
CAB also reinforced its partnership with the Jordan Loan Guarantee Corporation (JLGC) to help
grant loans to highly efficient companies that cannot provide any guarantees to the bank.

CAB further participated in several initiatives, including the Inhad Program that trains and
empowers the youth, in line with market needs, to create opportunities that reduce the
unemployment rate.

As it sought to carefully expand the facilities granted to large corporations and SMEs, CAB
examined grants based on sound scientific principles, and monitored and followed-up
on existing portfolios according to the International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS9)
concerning the risk classification of companies to mitigate against potential risks. CAB also
implemented MOODY'S RRS system that identifies credit risks and links them to the pricing of
granted facilities.
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I Activities and Achievements

Treasury and Development of Sources of Funds

CAB has succeeded in managing its assets and liabilities efficiently CABFX
and effectively, ensuring proper quality of these assets while

improving returns, diversifying funding sources, maintaining

adequate liquidity ratios, and enhancing CAB’s profitability and CABEPB
maintenance of acceptable risk ratios.

Throughout the year, CAB sought to strengthen its existing relations CAB E'Trad|ng
with correspondent banks, and despite the difficult regional

conditions and the renewed changes imposed by regulatory authorities, CAB seeks to build
new business relations with other banks as well. CAB has also maintained sustainable and close
relations with banks and financial institutions inside and outside Jordan, covering several fields
including commercial finance and bank transfers, which in turn contributed to improving the
services provided to customers.

CAB continued to offer its customers innovative investment choices. It launched an E-trading
platform that allows customers to trade shares, bonds, investment funds, and listed investment
funds in various trade markets across the world.

Financial Leasing

CAB offers an integrated range of financial leasing services that accommodate customer
business activity and cash flow across different economic sectors through Tamallak Leasing
Company. The company seeks to raise interest levels in the offerings provided to assist target
segments in meeting their financial needs, by enhancing the awareness of of leasing, and its
economic and financial benefits for target sectors.

Investment Services

CAB offers, through its investment subsidiaries — Awraq Investments in Jordan and Al-Watanieh
Securities Co. in Palestine — local, regional and international brokerage services, as well as asset
management services that involve managing customer investment portfolios, establishing and
managing multi-purpose investment funds, providing financial and investment consultation
services, and conducting relevant research and studies.

Y
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I Activities and Achievements

Branches Network and Distribution Channels

In line with CAB's corporate identity objectives and geographic expansion plans, two offices
were transformed into branches operating as part of CAB's branches network in 2019;Deir Abu
Sa'eed and Al-Shunah Al-Shamleyah offices. The consultancy center in Zarqaa Governorate was
turned into an office affiliated with Zarqgaa Branch; Baghdad Street, in order to accommodate
the continuously increasing number of branch customers and to reinforce CAB’s presence in
vital regions across Jordan.

CAB also opened four smart branches under the umbrella of its LINC subsidiary. LINC branches
were opened in key locations such as Al-Abdali Boulevard, Taj Mall, University of Jordan/
inside the admissions and registration building and Irbid/ inside the building of the Regional
Administration for Northern Branches. These branches target the youth and offer modern
designs with advanced banking technologies. Furthermore, CAB currently has four locations
serving customers through the e-fawateercom system, including Sahab, Marka, North Amman/
Shafa Badran license centers, and North Amman center.

Moreover, CAB is pleased to serve its customers through its wide network of ATMs, with 11 new
machines installed in various locations during 2019, bringing the total number of ATMs to 182
across the Kingdom. of which 148 machines were replaced by newer models to meet customers’
banking needs in a quick and efficient manner.
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17




I Activities and Achievements

Information Technology

The Information Technology Department implemented the latest and best technologies to stay
up to date with the fast changes the world is witnessing and to stay aligned with the bank’s
policy and strategy of providing excellent services to its customers. The Department updated
the network’s internal and external devices according to the latest technologies available to
guarantee speed, accuracy, and confidentiality in data transfer in line with general practices.

Communication devices were updated to HP for better speed and accuracy while transferring
data, and the most modern data encoding technologies were used for better data protection
and other advantages. The Information Technology Department also began implementing the
SD WAN system, which is considered the latest technology in connecting internal networks
to external branches. It is fast, accurate, easy to configure, and uses a very complicated and
difficult to decipher coding system. CAB is the first bank in the EMEA region to deploy this type
of technology and to leverage the latest in protection devices that offer advantages such as
Intrusion Prevention System IPS, Sandbox, Email Inspection, Antivirus, Anti-Spam, SSI Inspection,
and other benefits.

CAB's security and protection capacity was reinforced across all virtual data and cloud computing
by updating data security and protection systems (Fortinet) to increase control over security
gaps and strengthen the bank’s protection. The main servers at the bank were also updated to
the latest HP Synergy servers to guarantee fast performance.

CAB is further working on implementing the highest security, protection, and IT governance
standards. It obtained the PCI-DSS and GDPR certifications, implemented the COBIT 2019
framework and is working on implementing the 1ISO27001 standard.

Y
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I Activities and Achievements

Human Resources and Training

Recruitment Policy

CAB continued to implement its policy to prioritize internal candidates in filling available
vacancies through a fair competition mechanism that allows employees to apply for available
positions, especially managerial and leadership roles. This policy can help provide interesting
careers to develop opportunities and retain qualified employees. It also guarantees that the
bank is offering opportunities for the overall knowledge and experience of employees through
temporary placement programs, trainings and courses. CAB also recognizes the importance
of attracting talents externally to foster a healthy state of competition and drive innovation.
Suitable candidates are chosen to best fit the bank’s values and its corporate environment as
well as the job requirements.

Employee turnover reached 6,45% in 2019 in terms of voluntary resignations compared to
0,75% in 2018, which is still within the acceptable average according to relevant best practices.

Remuneration Policy
In line with the Central Bank of Jordan’s corporate governance code, CAB has developed and
adopted a remuneration policy based on the key code principles of fairness and transparency.

The remuneration policy aims to build objective, fair and transparent foundations and criteria
for the financial remuneration of the senior executive management and employees. This has
enabled CAB to attract, develop and retain highly-skilled employees, in addition to motivating
them to improve their performance and fulfill CAB’s objectives and aspirations.

The remuneration policy links between CAB profitability, performance and the extent to which
strategic objectives were achieved. The policy also includes various performance standards and
criteria for each department.

The bank and its subsidiary companies has 2,229 employees with the following qualifications:

Cairo
Awraq Al-Watanieh Tamallak
Amman Safa Bank " .
Investments Securities Leasing
Bank
Ph.D 2 - - - - 2
Masters 78 13 2 1 5 99
Bachelor 1,459 95 15 11 8 1,588
Diploma 245 7 1 - 1 254
High School or less 265 12 2 3 4 286
Total 2,049 127 20 15 18 2,229
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Key Achievements in the Management of Human Resources, 2019

In compliance with Central Bank of Jordan Anti-Money Laundering and Counter Terrorism
Financing Instructions No. 46/2007 as amended, and in line with CAB management’s desire to
improve employees knowledge on this subject, a training program was organized for several
branch managers on the topic of money laundering and terrorism financing. The program
covered methods of money laundering and terrorism financing, how to detect and report them,
and how to deal with suspected customers. It further tackled the policies, measures, and controls
needed to guarantee the highest standards when appointing employees to make sure that
Senior Executive Management employees, risk officers, and other employees concerned with
combatting money laundering and terrorism financing are the suitable people for the position.

As part of its efforts to meet its Corporate Social Responsibility strategic objectives, CAB played a
key role during 2019 in providing practical training for 215 male and female university students
and graduates affiliated with unions and employment agencies. The training covered bank
operations and sought to assist trainees qualify for the job market while also providing an
opportunity for CAB employees to actively participate in the ENJAZ program, which aims to
train and qualify students from schools, universities, and educational institutes. Furthermore,
in compliance with corporate governance guidelines, the HR Department helped set and adopt
a placement plan to be implemented to guarantee business continuity and build the capacities
of leaders for the future.

CAB management also outsourced HR management tasks to Cambridge Consulting Services,
with whom a five-year contract was signed. The contract aims to invest in expert and skillfully
qualified human resources and cadres from various countries to execute HR services and activities
with high levels of quality and competence, to elevate business levels and provided services,
improve benefits, and improve job satisfaction at CAB.

Development and Training Plans for Human Resources

In accordance with CAB's vision, mission and strategic objectives of developing, reinforcing,
and supporting human resources and corporate culture based on best practices and available
training options, a portion of the 2019 training plan was executed and included internal, local
and external training programs.

During 2019, a total of 240 training programs were organized reaching 2334,2 training hours,
including 117 training programs held at the CAB Training Center, 118 held in collaboration
with local training centers and 4 held outside the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan. The total
number of attendants was 2813. CAB also helped share the cost of university and associate
degrees through a series of grants allocated to CAB employees and their children. A total of
41 payments were made, including 28 payments to the children of CAB employees and 13
payments to CAB employees. Also, in 2019, and through its Human Resources Department, CAB
provided practical training on its operations to 215 university students and graduates affiliated
with unions and employment agencies.

During 2020, training programs are scheduled to continue and to cover various technical and
behavioral aspects, as well as banking guidelines and laws, and internal business measures.
These programs will aim to guarantee continuous development and improvement in employee
professionalism.



I Activities and Achievements

Training programs provided by the bank and affiliate companies included the following fields:

Training field Number of Courses Nurfll?er of Number of Training
Participants Hours

Auditing 2 4 30,0
Banking systems 36 841 103,8
Institutional excellence 2 44 3,5
Compliance and anti-money
laundering 18 219 261
Comprehensive training 1 5 124,0
Credit facilitations and funding 29 231 298,8
Customer service 25 501 40,3
Electronic services and payables 6 36 51,5
English language 3 6 12,0
Basic banking knowledge 11 76 138,0
Financial and accounting 6 22 94,0
Human resources development 5 52 41,5
IT courses 13 110 130,3
Insurance 2 2 26,5
Legal matters 3 25 27,0
Administration 5 32 123,5
Marketing 2 47 6,0
Money transfer 7 83 53,0
Legal aspects of the banking business 4 20 51,0
Work procedures 2 38 3,0
Real estate 1 2 27,0
Risks 26 122 340,5
Sales 4 54 38,0
Public safety 3 45 41,0
Behavioral Skills 13 111 138,5
External trading funding 8 80 91
Treasury and investment 3 5 39,5
Total 240 2813 2334,20
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I Activities and Achievements

During 2019, CAB held 56 training courses and workshops in Palestine, amounting to 1,135
training hours, of which, 48 were held in collaboration with local training centers and 8 abroad.
The number of Participants was 554..

Training field Number of Courses Number of Participants
Management 8 109
Financial and accounting 3 7
Computer skills 3 28
Human Resources 3 4
Credit/Retail/Facilitation 5 13
Marketing/Sales 2 7
Legal matters 1 1
Investment/Treasury 1 1
Risk/Compliance/Money laundering 8 43
Auditing 1 2
Languages 1 2
Operations 4 12
Safety — Civil Defense 1 32
Banking courses for branches 9 250
IT 6 43
Total 56 554

Bank's Status Among Competition

CAB has strengthened its standing as one of the leading banks in Jordan, bolstered by its
achievements during the current and previous years. Hence, CAB’s market share of total deposits
and credit facilities in Jordan amounted to 3,98% and 4,25% respectively and 6,07% and 5,23%
in Palestine.

The bank has maintained its credit rating by the international rating agencies as follows:

Foreign Currenc
Financial Strength 9 y

(Short and Long Term)

Moody’s b1 B2/NP Stable

Capital Intelligence b+ B+/B Stable
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I Activities and Achievements

Subsidiary Companies
The following is an overview of CAB's subsidiary companies:

Safa Bank was established in Palestine in 2016 as a public shareholding
company. It launched its operational activities on 22/9/2016, as a banking
institution operating in accordance with the provisions of the Islamic
Shariah. CAB owns 79% of the bank’s capital amounting to USD 75
million.

Safa Bank seeks to meet the Palestinian market’s needs for Islamic
banking services and products, as well as carry out financing and
investment activities, and develop tools to attract funds and savings in
order to enhance participation in productive investment in a Shariah-
compliant manner.

Lol _oj0o
SAFA BANK

Al Watanieh for Financial Services Company “Awraq Investments” was
established in the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan in 1992 as a limited
liability company. CAB owns 100% of its paid-up capital amounting to
JOD 5,5 million. The company provides local, regional and international
brokerage services, as well as asset management and investment
portfolio management services. The company also establishes and
manages investment funds and provides financial and investment
consulting services. CAB has commissioned the company to manage its
investment portfolio in bonds, turning it into CAB’s investment arm.

G 1s)
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Al-Watanieh Securities Co. was established in Ramallah, Palestine in 1995
as a limited liability company. The company has been a broker at the
Palestine Stock Exchange since its establishment. Currently, the company
has offices in both Gaza and Nablus where CAB owns 100% of its paid-
up capital, totaling to JOD 1,6 million.

L Al-Watanieh Securities Co.

Tamallak Leasing was established in the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan
on 12/11/2013, as a limited liability company, to act as a CAB leasing arm
and conduct all types of financial leasing services. CAB owns 100% of its
capital, amounting to JOD 5 million.

Tamallak Leasing offers an integrated range of financial leasing services,
in line with the nature of the leasee’s activities and cash flows across
economic sectors. It also seeks to increase the interest in the leasing
services provided aiming to target the right markets and help them
meet their financing needs through promoting the concept of financial
leasing and its numerous economic and financial benefits.

In accordance with the company’s vision in expanding its business, Irbid
branch has started its business in the beginning of 2020 to serve a larger
segment of clients.

Furthermore the management offices have been relocated to its new
location at the third circle, to meet the expansion and growth of the
company

/4
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4 Tamallak Leasing
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I Corporate Social Responsibility

CAB: A Leader in CSR, Culture, and the Arts

In 2019, CAB's social policies focused on developing local communities,
with an emphasis on empowerement projects, cultural, artistic
and educational activities, tourism conferences, and humanitarian
activities focused on people with disabilities and cancer patients.

To further detail, CAB signed an agreement with the University of Jordan
to fund the latter’s solar power generation project (Photovoltaics) with
the capacity to generate 16 Megawatts. The funding was provided
thanks to facilities from the Central Bank of Jordan.

CAB provided financial and logistic backing to the University of
Jordan to support the success of its initiative titled Developing the
Jordanian University.

CAB was also able to have a positive impact on the lives of people
with hearing impairments by translating sign language into
audible language in bank transactions. This service is the first of its
kind in Jordan and the Middle East and is provided through video
conferencing that facilitates communication between customers
with hearing disabilities and CAB employees.

CAB offered its support for the 13th year in a row to the 16th
Annual Children’s Summer Camp organized for children receiving
treatment at the King Hussein Cancer Center. The camp recently
opened its doors to happy and joyous children.

In collaboration with WAY Taawon for Youth, CAB participated in
the organization of an Iftar during the holy month of Ramadan for
orphans at Al-Ra'ed Al-Arabi School.

The bank’s social responsibility also included participating in the
development of the tourism sector in Jordan. CAB supported the
first tourism conference organized by the Khayr development
foundation in the Dead Sea and sponsored by the Ministry of
Tourism. The bank further supported the gathering organized by
the Jordan Inbound Tour Operators Association titled “The Modern
Spanish Traveler — Key Characteristics and Trends”.

CAB honored its own excellent employees for the high standard
services and dedication they offer the bank’s clients, their commitment

= el |
3l FAIR 2019

Participation in Career Day at the
University of Jordan

Participation in a Ramadan
Iftar with orphans

The Second Arab Capital
Markets Conference

to quality and competence, and their compliance with policies, procedures and professionalism
during working hours. The bank organized a free medical day at its administrative headquarters in
Wadi Sagra in Amman in collaboration with Al Dityar New Clinic for medical and logistic services.

With the aim of providing more job opportunities in various fields and specialties for the Jordanian
youth, CAB participated in career days at the University of Jordan, Philadelphia University Jordan, Princess
Sumaya University for Technology, the Hashemite University, and the German Jordanian University.

In line with the bank’s policy to support financial stability, CAB offered its golden sponsorship to
the Enhancing Financial Stability forum organized by the Union of Arab Banks in collaboration
with the Association of Banks in Jordan at the Intercontinental Hotel in Amman.

I
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I Corporate Social Responsibility

CAB also offered its golden sponsorship to the Second Arab Capital Markets Conference
organized by the Jordan Securities Commission and the Union of Arab Securities Authorities at
the Fairmont Hotel in Amman under the patronage of H.E. Dr. Omar Razzaz, Prime Minister of
Jordan.

Concerning the support and social protection provided to individuals
and households, CAB backed the issuance of a manual for parents to
empower them in their efforts to protect young children from the
dangers of drugs. The manual, titled “Yes to Health and Happiness.
No to Drugs” was issued in collaboration with Al Marji' Publications.
This initiative was launched in line with the drug awareness and

. . . ] ] ] From the 10* Competition for
prevention campaign organized by the Public Security Directorate Children's Paintings, 2019

(Hand in Hand) and implemented by the Anti-Narcotics Department.

CAB saw its efforts and hard work in the field of business
development in Jordan come to fruition after receiving a
global award from the European Bank for Reconstruction and
Development (EBRD). Based on EBRD standards, CAB was named
Most Active Issuing Bank in Jordan for 2018 in recognition of its
excellent work in activating trade and supporting projects with
added value for the Jordanian economy. This award is granted to
banks via the Trade Facilitation Programme (TFP) at EBRD.

g of the 5% session of the CAB
Symposium

Openin

In 2019, the Cairo Amman Bank Gallery hosted a series of art exhibitions for international,
Arab and Jordanian artists as part of the fifth session of the CAB Symposium in 2019. Among
the most renowned artists were Chinese artist Wang Jiyuan. Other artists who exhibited their
works at the Gallery included Mohammad Al Jaloos, Reziq Abdulhadi, Dr. Walid Al Jaafari, and
the Palestinian artist Essam Talhami. For the 10th year in a row, the Gallery hosted an awards
exhibition and gala for children who won the Cairo Amman Bank Competition for Children's
Paintings.

In Palestine, CAB committed to sponsoring national and regional events and supporting various
entities and associations. It sponsored and donated to various activities in different fields that
benefit the educational, health, sports and charity sectors in collaboration with organizations,
schools and different community actors.

Donations and Sponsorships
Overall donations and event sponsorships provided by CAB during 2019 amounted to JD 864,000
divided between the following sectors:

Sector Amount (in JD)

Education 386,518
Health 69,804
Culture and the arts 130,747
Social services 16,034
National institutions 261,342
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CABwillseek tomaintainthe achievements made during previousyears, while taking into account
local, regional and international economic circumstances. accordingly, CAB will continuously
monitor economic developments, and assess their impact on the bank’s operational activities
and take the necessary measures to maintain shareholder and customer funds. CAB will also
work on improving the efficiency of its banking services, as well as expanding its customer base,
while maintaining the quality of its credit facilities portfolio and working towards achieving
financial inclusion objectives.

The following are key points of CAB’s plan for 2020:

1.

Maintain a comfortable capital adequacy ratio and a “well-capitalized” rating in accordance
with the Central Bank of Jordan’s requirements in a manner that allows CAB to continue
its business expansion.

Maintain adequate liquidity levels to support CAB’s operations by increasing various types
of customer deposits, speaifically focusing on savings deposits through offering cash and
reward programs.

Strengthen CAB’s position among leading banks through the expansion of cross-selling
activities and the development of programs specifically designed to meet the needs of
different customer segments, while focusing on all card types, including university smart
cards.

Maintain the quality of the credit portfolio through the calculated expansion of credit
facilities provided, including benefiting from low-cost sources of financing provided by
the Central Bank of Jordan and various international agencies. Strive to settle and collect
non-performing facilities in order to decrease the percentage of non-performing facilities,
while working on increasing the allocations coverage ratio.

Apply strategic plan for developing IT programs to support CAB’s operations.

Increase performance efficiency and control expenditures, while improving the quality of
services provided to customers.

Increase the POS network by opening three new branches in the targeted areas in Jordan
and developing E-banking services by increasing the number of ATM machines and ensuring
their optimal distribution.

Continue to renovate CAB’s branches in line with corporate identity requirements and
renovate 8 branches in Jordan and Palestine.

Develop CAB employees’ competences and skills by implementing the annual training plan,
and developing a comprehensive program to assess institutional performance.

10. Continue to support local communities through CSR programs.



I Business Plan for 2020

11.

12.

As part of CAB'’s vision to provide innovative and unique services to its clients, to keep-
up with technological developments in the financial sector, and to serve the youth and
technology enthusiasts, three new LINC branches are scheduled to be opened in 2020:
two branches in Irbid (inside Yarmouk University and the Jordan University of Science and
Technology) and one branch in Kerak (inside Mutah University).

Based on CAB'’s strategy to develop its customer experience, and to continuously grow, a
new subsidiary will be launched under the trademark Signature targeting elite individuals
and corporate customers.

The Signature subsidiary will begin operations in 2020 through branches equipped with
global and modern designs, advanced technologies, and e-channels dedicated solely to
Signature clients. These include a smart mobile application and internet banking services to
provide innovative and specialized banking products and solutions that suit the needs of the
targeted segment. Signature will also have its own cadre of highly competent employees to
offer the best services and help provide a special customer experience.

LINC Boulevard/Al Abdali LINC Boulevard/Al Abdali
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CAB hasacomprehensive set of banking risk managementpolicies. These policiesplayacrucialrole
in identifying and assigning the different roles to all concerned parties who are in charge of the
following: Implementation, the Board of Directors and its committees, including the Corporate
Governance Committee, the IT Governance Committee, the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee, the Facilitation Committee, the Strategies Committee, the Investment and Real
Estate Committee, the Audit Committee, the Compliance Committee and Risk Management
Committee, as well as the Executive Management and affiliated committees such as the Assets/
Liabilities Committee (ALCO), the Internal Control Systems Development Committee, the
Strategy and Branching Committee, the IT Steering Committee, the Tendering and Procurement
Committee, and the Credit Facilities Committees. All of this is in addition to other specialized
divisions, such as the Risk Management Division, the Compliance and AML Division and the
Internal Audit Division. All CAB's divisions and branches are responsible for identifying any
operational risks and abiding by relevant applicable internal control and monitoring their
effectiveness and continuity, in accordance with CAB's adopted internal control system.

Therefore, CAB's risk management process includes the identification, measurement, assessment
and management of financial and non-financial risks, which might negatively impact CAB
performance, reputation, or objectives to ensure an optimal return against acceptable risks.

The CAB Risk Management Division's general framework is set according to dedicated principles
and methodologies, in line with CAB's size, concentration and nature of its operations, and the
instructions by regulatory authorities and international best practices, including the following:

* Responsibilities of the Board of Directors:

- Approve the Risk Management Division’s policies, strategies and general framework, including the
limits of acceptable risk levels.

- Ensure the existence of an effective stress-testing framework, and approve any related hypotheses.

- Approve CAB'’s policies.

* Responsibilities of the Board of Directors’ Risk Management Committee:

- Conduct a periodic review of the CAB Risk Management Division’s policies, strategies and procedures,
including the limits of acceptable risk levels.

- Remain up to date with developments that impact the bank’s risk management

- Develop an internal capital adequacy assessment process, as well as analyze current and future capital requirements,
in line with CAB"'s risk management structure and strategic objectives, and take appropriate actions.

- Ensure the availability of adequate systems to assess the different types of risk CAB may face and link
these risks to required capital.

e Responsibilities of the Risk Management Division:

- Submit reports to the Risk Management Committee.

- Monitor the abidance of various CAB divisions by acceptable risk limits, to ensure that they fall within
appropriate risk tolerance and risk appetite levels.

- Analyze all types of risks and develop measurement and control methodologies for each type of risk.

- Apply all CAB risk assessment systems and develop relevant work procedures.

- Manage and apply the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) in an adequate and
comprehensive manner, in line with CAB's risk structure.

- Implement stress-testing as part of the methodology approved by the Board of Directors.

- Participate in evaluating expected credit losses, based on IFRS9 standards and criteria, using specialized
systems from global providers

- Evaluate Business Sustainability plans by coordinating with relevant departments, and ensure
continuous updates as necessary

- Guide and train the bank’s employees on the culture of Risk Management

- Apply Risk Management requirements and instructions set by the Central Bank of Jordan



I Risk Management

Overall, CAB is exposed to the following key risks:

Credit Risk
Credit risk involves risks that may arise from the non-compliance or default of a certain party to
fulfill its obligations towards the bank, resulting in potential losses.

Responsibilities of the Risk Management Division:

Evaluate business continuity plans by coordinating with the relevant department.

Market Risk
Market risk involves risks resulting from the fair value or cash fluctuation of financial instruments
due to a change in market prices, such as interest rates, foreign exchange and stock prices.

Such risks are monitored in accordance with specific policies and procedures by specialized
committees and divisions.

Market risks are also measured and monitored using various tools, such as sensitivity analysis,
stress testing, and stop-loss limits.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk involves CAB'’s inability to provide sufficient financing to fulfill its obligations on
their maturity dates, or to finance its own activities without incurring high costs or losses.

In order to mitigate such risk, CAB’s Executive Management and the Asset/Liability Committee
are responsible for managing liquidity risk through diversifying sources of finance They are
also in charge of setting liquidity contingency plans to ensure the availability of liquidity in
emergency cases.

Operational Risk
Operational risks represent the losses arising from the inadequacy or failure of internal
procedures, employees, or internal systems, or arising from external events.

Hence, the internal control process constitutes one of the most important tools to manage
such risks. In this respect, CAB’s Executive Management places high importance on the ongoing
development of control measures across all activities and operations. An operational risk policy
has been adopted in order to cover all departments as well as local and regional branches and
subsidiaries.
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CAB continuously strives to update and review its business continuity plans to continue serving
customers during emergency situations.

Compliance risk involves potential legal or regulatory penalties, financial loss or damaged
reputation arising from CAB’s noncompliance with laws, regulations, guidelines, codes of
conduct, standards and adequate banking practices, issued by domestic and international
regulatory authorities.

CAB recognizes the importance of monitoring in achieving and maintaining compliance. Hence,
CAB implements policies and procedures approved by the Board of Directors and aligned with
Compliance Supervision Instructions No. 33/2006 issued by the Central Bank of Jordan and
with relevant best international practices in order to manage and limit possible compliance
risks across the Cairo Amman Bank group. The bank’s Compliance Department implements
a control program to monitor adherence with laws and guidelines issued by regulatory and
official authorities to which the bank’s work and activities are subject. It does so in line with the
compliance monitoring policy adopted by the CAB Board of Directors and with the automatic
compliance management system through which all the Department’s operations are executed.

Based on CBJ guidelines for internal procedures to deal with complaints received from the
customers of financial and banking service providers, and on the Board approved customer
complaints policy, the Department receives and handles all customer complaints effectively,
including communicating with customers and informing them of the results and follow-up of
their complaints. The Department also documents these complaints in its automatic customer
complaints system for easy review and retrieval whenever necessary.

The Department further monitors and follows-up on the implementation of the American
Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA) through internally adopted policies and procedures
that help identify American customers, conduct due diligence, classify and categorize American
clients, and report their presence in compliance with the law and FACTA policies and procedures.

Furthermore, the Department was granted additional support from trained and qualified
employees, and a comprehensive and continuous training program on compliance monitoring
is being implemented to improve employees’ abilities to protect CAB from compliance risks.

To further protect the bank from compliance risks, CAB took the following measures in 2019:

- Implementing a compliance monitoring policy

- Continuing to identify all laws and regulations the bank is subject to

- Continuing to assist the bank’s Executive Management in managing potential compliance risks

- Implementing monitoring programs such as self-assessment surveys for laws and regulations, and
designated tested to guarantee compliance

- Continuing to identify and document compliance risks

- Implementing all the objectives of the compliance risk plan approved by the Compliance Committee

- Implementing the Department’s control program across the bank

- Implementing a control program to supervise and monitor peer units in external branches and
subsidiaries to guarantee that these branches and subsidiaries are effectively managing compliance
risks



With respect to anti-money laundering and terrorism financing efforts, CAB has adopted
policies and operating procedures, which have been approved by the Board of Directors, in
accordance with the Anti-Money Laundering and Combating the Financing of Terrorism (AML/
CFT) Act No. 46 of 2007, as amended, as well as AML/CFT Instructions No. 14 of 2018, issued
by the Central Bank of Jordan, and international best practices in this regard. This is intended
to mitigate the risks involved, identify procedures for financial operations and implement due
diligence measures in an effort to identify existing and potential customers, including their
legal and personal status and ultimate beneficiary. This also ensures ongoing follow-up of
customer banking transactions and operations throughout their business dealings with CAB.

In this regard, CAB took the following measures in 2019:

- In compliance with AML/CFT Instructions No. 14 of 2018 issued by the Central Bank of Jordan,
and executing CAB’s risk assessment mechanism and AML/CFT policy, the Anti-Money Laundering
Department conducted a full assessment of the risks of money laundering and terrorism financing
with the purpose of identifying, evaluating and understanding the risks linked to customers, countries,
geographic regions, services, products and service provision channels. The assessment covered all CAB
branches in the Kingdom as well as external branches and subsidiaries.

- The Anti-Money Laundering Department updated the AML/CFT Guidelines Manual to reflect
amendments made as part of the updated AML/CFT policy and CBJ’s AML/CFT Instructions No. 14 of
2018. The necessary changes were made to the T24 banking system, work procedures, and models
related to the updated manual’s guidelines.

- An automatic system for combatting money laundering and terrorism financing was developed (FCM)
in line with CBJ's AML/CFT Instructions No. 14 of 2018 and the Risk Based Approach. The system
was configured to update the warning rules that examine behaviors and patterns linked to financial
transactions executed through customer accounts to include profile rules, transaction codes, and
segment and group configurations.

- A training program on money laundering and terrorism financing was organized for CAB branch
directors, with 18 training hours and a test at the end of the program that qualifies trainees to receive
a certificate. All new bank employees were also trained through workshops on money laundering and
terrorism financing, as were all warning officers at subsidiary agencies for Western Union transfer
services. Trainings were customized based on each employee’s job title, tasks, and responsibilities and
their connection to the bank’s anti-money laundering and combatting terrorism financing measures
and on the updated guidelines issued in this regard.

- Reports continued to be submitted through the “go AML" financial analysis and electronic warning
system according to the requirements of the Anti-Money Laundering and Combatting Terrorism
Financing Unit. These reports concerned any operations suspected to have a connection with money
laundering or terrorism financing and are sent through the “go AML"” system. Other required reports
(STR/TFR/SAR/UTR) were submitted through XML Upload on the “go AML" system.

The total number of customer complaints received by the Customer Complaints Unit and referred
to Senior Management throughout the year was 1001 complaints categorized according to CBJ
requirements. These complaints were duly handled in line with the relevant procedures, laws
and guidelines and customers were contacted to inform them of the results of their complaints.
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Organizational Structure of Risk Management
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CAB is committed to promoting and developing corporate governance based on the principles
of justice, transparency, accountability and responsibility. This is intended to strengthen the
confidence of depositors, shareholders, and other stakeholders in CAB’s activities and operations,
and ensure continuous supervision of the bank’s adherence to established policies and limits and to
the bank’s goals in general. CAB is also committed to applying the highest standards of professional
performance, in line with the instructions of the Central Bank of Jordan and relevant regulatory
authorities in the countries in which the bank operates and with the best international practices.

The presence of an effective, professional and independent Board of Directors constitutes one of the
most important requirements of good corporate governance practices. In this respect, the board’s
primary role is to supervise all CAB’s and executive management’s activities, as well as ensure their
alignment with the requirements of the Central Bank of Jordan and all other regulatory authorities
to protect the interests of shareholders, depositors, and any other stakeholders.

The Board of Directors is composed of 11 members elected by the general assembly. The board
members have a range of skills and expertise which contribute to the board’s effectiveness and
efficiency, moreover, all board members are non-executive members.

The Board of Directors created several specialized committees, each with its own objectives and
powers, working in integration with the board to achieve CAB’s objectives. These committees are:

The Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee consists of three members, including
the Chairman,

along with other two independent members, as follows:

Mr. Hasan Abu Al-Ragheb, Chairman/Independent

Mr. Issam Al Muhtadi, Vice Chairman/Independent

Mr. Yazid Al-Mufti, Member/non-independent

Each member should make enough time to oversee and perform the following responsibilities:

— Guide and oversee the preparation of the corporate governance code and monitor its implementation.
— Review the corporate governance code every three years and/or whenever deemed necessary, in addition to
making appropriate recommendations to the Board of Directors to approve potential amendments as needed.

— Prepare the corporate governance code and submit it to the board of directors.

- In case of conflict between any of the committees’ recommendations and the board of directors’
decisions, the board should include a statement in the governance report explaining clearly those
recommendations and the reasons for not adhering to them.

- Review the regulatory authorities notes regarding governance application at the bank and follow up
on them.

— Review the committee’s charter every three years and/or whenever deemed necessary, as well as
submitting any amendments to the Board of Directors for approval.

— Submit a semi-annual report to the Board of Directors on the effectiveness of the compliance and
AML division’s activities.

— Submit a semi-annual report to the Board of Directors on the effectiveness of the compliance and
AML division’s activities.

— Carry out any other matters decided by the Board of Directors.



Corporate Governance and Disclosure Statements

The Risk Management Committee

The risk management committee consists of five members, including three independent
members, as follows:

Mr. Issam"Mohammed Farouq" Rushdi Muhtadi, Chairman/Independent

Mr. Mohammed Mahmoud El-Etreby, Vice Chairman/Non-independent

Mrs. Soha Basil Andraws Ennab, Member/Independent

Mr. Fadi Abdulwahab Abdulfattah Abu Ghosh, Member/Non-independent

Mr. Sami Issa Eid Smeirat, Member/Independent

The committee’s responsibilities include the following main tasks:

Review the risk management scope of application annually, as well as ensuring its inclusion of
subsidiary and sister companies, regional branches and any risks that CAB may be exposed to.
Oversee the development of the risk management strategy and review it periodically for approval by
the Board of Directors.

Submit semi-annual reports to the Board of Directors, including crucial information and developments
affecting CAB's risk management, as well as identify any risks that have exceeded acceptable risk
limits.

Adopt risk management methodologies that include risk identification, cover all CAB activities and
divisions, and report the results of the application of these methodologies to the Board of Directors.
Supervise the development of risk management policies, review them annually and ensure their
comprehensiveness.

Ensure that appropriate expertise and resources are available within the risk management division,
allowing it to carry out all of its responsibilities.

Review the committee’s charter every three years and/or whenever deemed necessary, and submit any
potential amendments to the Board of Directors for approval.

Carry out any other matters decided by the Board of Directors.

Y

34



The Audit Committee consists of three members including the chairman, and they must be a
majority of independent members, as follows:

Mr. Sami Issa Eid Smeirat, Chairman/independent

Mrs. Soha Basil Andraws Ennab, Vice Chairman/Independent

Mr. Ghassan lbrahim Fares Akeel, Member/Non-Independent

The committee’s responsibilities include the following main tasks:

Review the scope, results and adequacy of CAB’s internal and external audit procedures, as well as
accounting issues bearing significant impact on financial statements.

Verify and review the adequacy and effectiveness of internal control systems, approved by the Board of
Directors, as well as ensure that the appointed internal and external auditors review them at least once a year.
Review financial statements prior to their submission to the Board of Directors, in cooperation with
executive management and the external auditor. Conduct any necessary recommendations in this
respect to ensure the accuracy and transparency of financial statements and the compliance with
financial reporting standards and instructions issued by regulatory authorities.

Submit recommendations to the Board of Directors in a timely manner and/or the termination of
service and remuneration of the external auditor, and any other related contractual terms, during the
ordinary general assembly meeting, as well as pre-approve any activity assigned to the external auditor
outside the scope of auditing tasks, and assess its potential impact on the auditor’s independence.
Ensure the regular rotation of the external auditor between different audit offices, in accordance
with the corporate governance code issued by the Central Bank of Jordan.

Ensure the independence and objectivity of the internal auditor, without having any executive tasks.
The internal audit division has the right to access all records and information, as well as contact any
employee, in order to perform its tasks and write reports without any external interference.

Submit a recommendation to the Board of Directors to appoint/accept the resignation of the head of
the internal audit division and assess performance.

Submit a recommendation to the Board of Directors on matters pertaining to internal audit procedures as
required, as well as review the internal audit charter for approval and adoption by the Board of Directors.
Review the internal audit division’s risk-based annual plan, in addition to any other internal audit-
related action plans to be adopted once their comprehensiveness is confirmed in terms of scope,
results and adequacy. Ensure that there are no determinants on the internal audit scope of work.
Review and inform the Board of Directors of any crucial observations made with respect to internal
audit reports and correction measures taken by the executive management.

Review inspection reports issued by the Central Bank of Jordan, the Palestine Monetary Authority,
the external auditor, and other regulatory authorities, as well as the Board of Directors’ feedback and
actions taken in this regard.

Review, monitor and report all concerned party transactions to the Board of Directors. Ensure the
adoption of adequate and effective policies and procedures to address and disclose conflict of
interests, including ensuring that financial operations and contracting for various projects have been
fulfilled in accordance with the approved policies.

The Audit Committee meets up with the chairman at least once every three months or whenever
needed, based on the Board of Directors’ decisions. The committee also conducts meetings
when the external auditors or head of internal audit division requests so.



The Audit Committee meets with the external auditor, the head of the internal audit division,
and the head of the compliance and AML division at least once a year, without the presence of
any of executive senior management members.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee consists of three members, including the
chairman and two

independent members, as follows:

Mrs. Soha Ennab, Chairman/Independent
Mr. Hasan Abu Al-Al-Ragheb, Vice Chairman/Independent
Mr. Khaled Al-Masri, Member/non-independent

The committee’s responsibilities include the following main tasks:

Identify and nominate individuals who are eligible to join the Board of Directors before the general
assembly, taking into account their capabilities and qualifications.

Ensure the submission of all required data and forms to the Central Bank to obtain the needed
approval for appointing the board members.

Prepare the nomination and suitability policy and procedures related to the Board of Directors,
chief executive officer, senior executive management, and main employees, in line with applicable
corporate governance requirements.

Ensure the submission of all required data and forms to obtain the Central Bank’s approval on the
appointment of the CEO and its no objection letter to the appointment of the higher executive
management members.

Nominate the qualified members to join the higher executive management and the key management
positions, and ensure their qualifications match the Nomination and Suitability policy.

Ensure that the board members, higher executive management and key management employees
have the highest levels of credibility, qualifications and integrity, and that they have the needed
experience and ability to commit and put enough time to the bank’s work.

Assess the prospective board members’ level of independence, and evaluate it with the conditions set
in the approved Nomination and Suitability policy, ensuring the members’ ongoing and continuous
conformity to the minimum requirements.

Apply the nominations’ procedures and ensure the continuity of suitability of the board members, higher
executive management and key management employees annually and refer to the board for approval.
Ensure the existence of a system to evaluate the bank’s employees excluding the board members,
higher executive management and key management employees.

Develop a policy to review and assess the performance of the senior executive management by determining
KPIs to determine, measure and review the performance and the achievement of the corporates’ goals.
Develop a system to assess the performance of the CEO, senior executive management, and main CAB
employees, and refer to the board for approval.

Develop a remuneration policy for board members to recommend it to the board.

Develop a remuneration policy for CAB employees to recommend it to the board.

Develop a remuneration policy for the CEO, higher executive management and key management
employees to recommend it to the board.

Enable the Board of Directors to determine the salaries, bonuses and other privileges of the chief
executive officer, senior executive management and top management.



Inform the board of any essential information that could negatively affect the suitability and/or the
independence of any of the board members, or the suitability of any member of the higher executive
management and key management employees.

Ensure that the board members attend banking workshops or seminars, especially those related to
risk management, governance and the latest banking developments.

Provide board members with requisite information and background on certain important topics upon
request, and ensure that they are constantly aware of the latest banking-related updates.

Develop a policy/system to assess the performance of the Board of Directors, as well as its members
and committees to be submitted to the board for approval.

Follow up on filling out the approved assessment forms to evaluate the Board of Directors, its members and
committees, review them and determine the final assessment and corrective plans to improve performance,
and report results to the Board of Directors, the Central Bank of Jordan and Jordan Securities Commission.
Submit periodically to the Board of Directors the details of its activities and fulfilling its responsibilities.
Develop a policy for career replacement and succession and human resources and training policy, and
ensure their application and review it annually.

Perform other responsibilities decided by the board of directors and review any subject the committee
deems important within its scope of work and submit a recommendation for the board of directors.
Review the committee’s charter every three years and/or whenever deemed necessary, as well as
submit any potential amendments to the Board of Directors for approval.

The above policies, systems and procedures every three years and/or whenever deemed necessary.
Find a clear methodology to make sure the board member is allocating enough time to perform his/
her responsibilities.

The Investment and Real Estate Committee consists of four members, as follows:
Mr. Yazid Adnan Mustafa Al-Mufti, Chairman/Non-Independent
Mr. Khaled Sabih Taher Al-Masri, Vice Chairman/Non-Independent

Mr. Yassin Khalil Mohammed Al-Talhouni, Member/Non-Independent
Mr. Sharif Mahdi Hosni Al-Saifi, Member/Non-Independent

The committee’s responsibilities include the following main tasks:

Supervise the development and review of CAB’s investment and real estate policies, refer them to the
Board of Directors for approval.

Study recommendations made concerning new investment opportunities to make a suitable decision
in accordance with adopted policies.

Oversee the management of investment portfolios, as well as making appropriate decisions that
maximize profits and reduce losses.

Appointapprovedreal estate appraisers, inaccordance with the executive management’srecommendations.
Study and approve recommendations to sell repossessed properties.

Study recommendations made regarding the disposal of repossessed properties for the purposes of managing
CAB's activities, and submitting relevant recommendations to the Board of Directors for approval.

Submit a semi-annual report to the Board of Directors on the committee’s work and activities.
Review the committee’s charter every three years and/or whenever deemed necessary, and submit any
proposed amendments to the Board of Directors for approval.

Study any subject presented by the Board of Directors, and providing relevant recommendations
accordingly.



The Strategies Committee consists of four members, as follows:

Mr. Ghassan lbrahim Akeel, Chairman/Non-Independent

Mrs. Soha Basil Andraws Ennab, Vice Chairman/Independent

Mr. Yazid Adnan Mustafa Al-Mufti, Member/Non-Independent

Mr. Issam"Mohammed Farouq" Rushdi Muhtadi, Member/Independent

The committee’s responsibilities include the following main tasks:

Determine strategic objectives in coordination with the executive management, to be adopted by the
Board of Directors.

Ensure the development of strategic and operational plans, and the inclusion of strategic objectives.
Follow up on the achievements of the strategic objectives through tracking key performance indicators.
Submit a semi-annual report to the Board of Directors on the committee’s work and activities.
Review the committee’s charter every three years and/or whenever deemed necessary, as well as
submit any potential amendments to the Board of Directors for approval.

Study any subject, presented to the committee by the Board of Directors, deemed necessary to discuss
or provide relevant recommendations.

The IT Governance Committee consists of three members, as follows:

Mr. Khaled Al-Masri, Chairman/Non-independent

Mr. Issam Al Muhtadi, Vice Chairman/Independent
Mr. Fadi Abu Ghosh, Member/Non-independent

Mr. Sami Smeirat, Member/Independent

The committee’s responsibilities include the following main tasks:

Adopting strategic IT objectives and the appropriate organizational structures including guidance
committees at the senior executive management level, in particular (the Information Technology
Guidance Committee), to ensure that the bank’s strategic objectives are met and that IT resources are
adding value to the projects and investments of the bank, In addition, to using the necessary tools and
standards to ensure that activities are monitored and objectives are achieved, which includes the use
of the IT balanced scorecard system and the return on investment (ROI) in order to measure the effect
of its tools in enhancing the financial and operational efficiencies.

Adopting the overall framework for managing, controlling and monitoring IT resources and projects
which comply with internationally accepted practices, specifically COBIT (Objectives for Information
and Related Technology Control), which complies and meets the objectives and requirements of
corporate governance and the management of information and technology through the achievement
of corporate objectives contained in the above-mentioned instructions in a sustainable manner, and
also to achieve IT objectives, covering IT governance processes.

Adopt the corporate objectives system contained in Annex 1 of the Instructions of Information
Governance and Management, as well as the technology associated with it. The committee should
also adopt the information and technology objectives set forth in Annex 2 and consider their input
the minimum standard, and describe the sub-objectives required to achieve them.
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Adopt the RACI chart of the main processes of IT governance set out in Annex 3, as well as its sub-
processes in terms of: Entity, entities, people, or parties who are primarily responsible, accountable,
consulted, and informed of all operations in the mentioned annex, guided by enabling processes
criteria (COBIT 5) in this regard.

Ensure that there is a general framework for IT risk management that is aligned and complied with the
overall risk management framework of the bank and takes into account all information technology
governance processes contained in Annex 3.

Adopting a budget of IT resources and projects which corresponds with the bank’s strategic objectives.
Oversee and supervise the operations and resources of IT projects to ensure their adequacy and
effective contribution to the bank’s business requirements.

Review audit reports on information technology and take necessary action to address and rectify
deviations.

Provide recommendations to the council on actions needed to correct any deviations.

Review the committee’s charter every three years and/or whenever deemed necessary, as well as
submit any potential amendments to the Board of Directors for approval.

Review any subject suggested by the board of directors or the committee deems important to discuss
and give recommendations regarding it to the board of directors.

Facilitations’ Committee

The Facilitations’ Committee consists of five members as follows:

Mr. Yazeed Al-Mufti, Chairman/Non-Independent

Mr. Issam Al-Muhtadi, Vice Chairman/Independent

Mr. Shareef Al-Saifi, Member/Non-Independent

Mr. Fadi Abu Ghosh, Member/Non-Independent

Mr. Yaseen Al-Talhouni, Member/Non-Independent

Each member should make enough time to oversee and perform the following responsibilities:

Reviewing the facilitations exceeding the powers of the highest committee in the Executive Administration.
Its powers shall be restricted into taking the proper decision for facilitations recommended for
approval by the Executive Administration Committee.

Shall submit periodically to the Board of Directors the details of facilitations approved by it.

Review the corporate governance code every three years and/or whenever deemed necessary, in addition to
making appropriate recommendations to the Board of Directors to approve potential amendments as needed.
Review any subject suggested by the board of directors or the committee deems important to discuss
and give recommendations regarding it to the board of directors.

In case of conflict between any of the committees’ recommendations and the board of directors’
decisions, the board should include a statement in the governance report explaining clearly those
recommendations and the reasons for not adhering to them.
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Compliance Committee

The Compliance Committee consists of three members, the majority of which are independent
members:

Mrs. Fadi Abu Ghaush, Chairman/non-Independent

Mr. Hassan Ali Hussein Abu Al-Al-Ragheb, Vice Chairman/ Independent

Mr. Sami Smerat, Member/Independent

Mrs. Soha Basil Andraws Ennab, Member/Independent

Compliance Committee tasks include the following:

Each member shall devote sufficient time to the following tasks and responsibilities:

Review Compliance and AML and any other policies within the scope of the Committee's work annually
and/or whenever necessary, and recommend to the Board of Directors to adopt amendments if necessary.
Discuss and review the Compliance and AML Department reports and make the necessary
recommendations as required to the Board of Directors if necessary.

Review and approve plans, programs and mechanisms related to the scope of work of the Department.
Monitor and follow up on the application and effectiveness of the compliance, AML and financial
crimes monitoring function.

Discussing with the executive management about cases in which the recommendations of the
Compliance and AML Department have been contradicted and any other matters. If the conflict
continues, the case shall be submitted to the Board of Directors with the appropriate recommendations
to take the best decision.

Ensure that appropriate expertise and resources are available to the Compliance and AML Department
to enable it to carry out its tasks and responsibilities to the fullest.

Review the Committee Charter every year and/or whenever necessary and submit any amendments to
the Board of Directors for approval.

Submit a semi-annual report to the Board of Directors outlining the effectiveness of the Committee’s
work and activities.

-Evaluation of the Head of Compliance and Anti-Money Laundering and Terrorism Financing Department.
- Any other issues decided by the Board of Directors.
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Board of Directors as of December 31, 2019

Yazid Adnan Mustafa Al-Mufti

Chairman of the Board

Type of Membership:

Non-executive, non-independent

Nationality: Jordanian
Member Since 1990
Date of Birth: 27/3/1953

Academic Qualifications:

Bachelor in Business Administration (AUB)

Professional Experience:

Chairman of the board since 2012/10/7
General Manager of Cairo Amman Bank from 1989 until October 2004
Experience in banking through his work at Citibank

Membership on committees
emanating from the board of
Directors of the Bank

Chairman of facilities committee

Chairman of investment and real state committee
Member of corporate governance committee
Member of strategies committee

Board Memberships:

Board member of Zara Investment (Holding) Company, Middle East
Insurance Company and Egbal Investment Company
All Watanieh for financial services company "awraq investment"

Banque Misr

Mr. Mohamed Mahmoud Ahmed El-Etrebi

Vice Chairman of the Board

Type of Membership:

Non-executive, non-independent

Nationality: Egyptian
Member Since 2015
Date of Birth: 1/1/1955

Academic Qualifications:

Bachelor in Trade

Professional Experience:

Chairman of Banque Misr since 2015

Banking experience for more than 30 years holding the following posts:
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of Egypt Gulf Bank from January
2013 until December 2014

Chairman of the Egyptian Arab Land Bank from 2011 until 2013

Chief Executive Officer of Arab Investment Bank from 2009 until 2011

Chairman of Banque Misr Liban

Worked in leadership positions at the International Egyptian Bank

Worked in Arab African International Bank, Tadhamon Bank and International
Credit Bank

Membership on committees
emanating from the board of
Directors of the Bank

Vice Chairman of Risk managment Committee

Board Memberships:

Vice Chairman of Union of Arab banks

Bord member of Egypt General authority for invesment and freezones
Chairman misr capital invesments

Bord member of ain shams Uni.

Bord member of EBI

Bord member of central Bank of Egypt

Current External Positions

Chairman of Banque Misr
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Khaled Sabih Taher Al-Masri

Type of Membership:

Non-executive, non-independent

Nationality: Jordanian
Member Since 1995
Date of Birth: 19/2/1966

Academic Qualifications:

Masters in Business Administration
Bachelor in Computer Engineering

Professional Experience:

Chairman of Cairo Amman Bank from July 1999 to October 7, 2012
Chief Executive Officer of Cairo Amman Bank from October 2004 until 31/12/2007
Member of Cairo Amman Bank Since 1995

Membership on committees
emanating from the board of
Directors of the Bank

Chairman of IT governance committee
Vice Chairman of investment and real estate committee
Member of nomination and remuneration committee

Board Memberships:

Board member of Zara Investment (Holding) Company
Jordan Hotel and Tourism Company
Chairman of Jordan Himmeh Mineral Company,

Current External Positions

Chairman of Astra Group
Chairman of Ayla Oasis Development Company

Social Security Corporation

Represented by Fadi Abdulwahab Abdulfattah Abu Ghosh (Since 10/07/2019)

Type of Membership:

Non-executive, non-independent

Nationality: Jordanian
Member Since 10/07/2019
Date of Birth: 05/03/1979

Academic Qualifications:

Bachelor in Accounting from Al Albayt University (2001)
Certified Internal Auditor (2007)
Legal Auditor certified by JCPA (2012)

Professional Experience:

Head of Internal Auditing in the Social Security Investment Fund since 2009

He joined the Social Security Investment Fund as an internal auditor in 2005

An employee of The International Islamic Arab Bank from 2002 — 2005

An accountant at Al Sabbagh Pharmaceuticals during 2005

A financial application officer at Houston Limited - Amman in 2001

A lecturer in a number of professional certifications (CIA, CMA, ACCA, CPA, JCPA), in
addition to different subjects related to internal auditing, fraud and money laundry,
internal supervision and corporate governance

Membership on committees
emanating from the board of
Directors of the Bank

Chairman of Compliance Committee

Member of the Risk Management Committee
Member of the Facilitation Committee
Member in IT Governance Committee

Board Memberships:

Represents the Social Security Corporation in the following companies boards:
Arab Potash Company (08/2017 — 07/2019)

Al Etihad Bank (08/2016 — 08/2017)

Shareco Brokerage (08/2011 - 07/2016)

Current External Positions:

Acting Manager of Internal Auditing Unit in the Social Security Investment Fund
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Represented by Rania Mousa Fahid Al-Araj (To 10/07/2019)

Type of Membership:

Non-executive, Non-independent

Nationality: Jordanian
Member Since 22/5/2016
Date of Birth: 30/11/1978

Academic Qualifications:

CFA Charter holder
Masters in Finance and Banking
Bachelor in Finance and Banking

Professional Experience:

Head of Treasuary Department at Social Security Investment Fund Trader and
portfolio manager at Investement and Outside Operations Department at the
Central Bank of Jordan
Financial analyst at Investement and Outside Operations Department at the
Central Bank of Jordan

Membership on committees
emanating from the board of
Directors of the Bank

Chairman of compliance committee
Member of facilities committee

Member of Risk management committee
Member of IT governance committee

Board Memberships:

Represents the Social Security Corporation in central electrecity generation

Current External Positions:

Head of Treasuary Department at Social Security Investment

Arab Supply and Trading Company

Ghassan Ibrahim Fares Akeel

Type of Membership:

Non-executive, non-independent

Nationality: Jordanian
Member Since 29/6/2002
Date of Birth: 2/5/1968

Academic Qualifications:

Masters in Management
Bachelor in Accounting
Certified Public Accountant (CPA)

Professional Experience:

General Manager of Astra Group
Experience in auditing through his work as an audit manager in one of the major
audit firms

Membership on committees
emanating from the board of
Directors of the Bank

Chairman of strategies committee
member of Audit committe

Board Memberships:

Board member of Astra Industrial Group
Arabia Cooperative Insurance Company
Audacia Capital

Current External Positions:

Chief Excutive officer of Astra Group - Saudi Arabia
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Hassan Ali Hussein Abu Al-Ragheb

Type of Membership: Non-executive, non-independent

Nationality: Jordanian

Member Since 2016

Date of Birth: 24/5/1973

Academic Qualifications: Bachelor in Business Administration

Professional Experience: General Manager of Yarmouk Insurance Company

Vice-President of the Jordan Insurance Federation

Membership on committees | Chairman of corporate governance committee
emanating from the board of ' vice chairman of nomination and remuneration committee
Directors of the Bank vice chairman of compliance management committee

Board Memberships Chairman of the Board of Directors of Spectrum Global Investment Inc.
Al Ishraq Trading Investment company
Member in first Insutance company

Current External Positions Businessman

Sharif Mahdi Hosni Al-Saifi

Type of Membership: Non-executive, independent

Nationality: Jordanian

Member Since 2010

Date of Birth: 06/06/1972

Academic Qualifications: Masters in Marine Environmental Protection

Bachelor of Science in Foreign Affairs

Professional Experience: Deputy General Manager/Partner in Masar United Contracting company.
Former CEO of United Garment Manufacturing company.

Project Manager of Agaba Marine Park

Operations Manager at Masar United Contracting company.

Membership on committees | Member of facilities committee
emanating from the board of  Member of investment and real estast committee
Directors of the Bank

Board Memberships: Board member of Masar United Contracting company
VTEL Holding and South Coast Hotels Company

Current External Positions Deputy General Manager in Masar United Contracting company
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Issam"Mohammed Farouq” Rushdi Muhtadi

Type of Membership:

Non-executive, independent

Nationality: Jordanian
Member Since 2018
Date of Birth: 18/11/1968

Academic Qualifications:

Master's in Business Administration / USA.
Bachelor's in Business Administration-Specialized in Finance/USA.

Professional Experience:

Founding Partner at Al Bayan Administrative Consulting and Commercial
Agencies.

Amman Office Manager of Huron Consulting Middle East.

Amman Office Manager of Next Move Consulting Company

Manager of the International Department at Cairo Amman Bank.

Membership on committees
emanating from the board of
Directors of the Bank:

Chairman of the Risk Management Committee.

Vice-Chairman of Facilities Committee.

Vice-Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee.
Vice-Chairman of the Information Technology Governance Committee.
Member of the Strategies Committee

Bord Memberships

Safa Bank - Palestine.
Member of the Board of Directors of Tamallak Financial Leasing Company.

Current External Positions

Founding Partner at Al Bayan Administrative Consulting

Sami Issa Eid Smeirat

Type of Membership:

Non-executive, independent

Nationality: Jordanian
Member Since 2018
Date of Birth: 13/4/1971

Academic Qualifications:

Master’s in Business Administration from NYIT
Master's in Communications Engineering from Jordan University
Bachelor's in Electrical Engineering from Jordan University.

Professional Experience:

Deputy CEO of Cyberia

CEO of Global One Telecom Jordan.

CEO of Wanadoo Jordan.

Vice-President of Jordan Telecom Group (Orange)/CEQ interprise Business unit

Membership on committees
emanating from the board of
Directors of the Bank:

Chairman of the Audit Committee.

Member of the Risk Management Committee.

Member of the Information Technology Governance Committee
Member of the Compliance Committee.

Bord Memberships

Arab Internet & Telecom Union.
Princess Sumaya University

Current External Positions

Vice-President of Jordan Telecom Group (Orange)/CEQ interprise Business unit
CEO of Jordan data communications company
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Yasin Khalil Mohamad Yasin Al-Talhouni

Type of Membership: Non-executive, non-independent
Nationality: Jordanian

Member Since: 1998

Date of Birth: 8/5/1973

Academic Qualifications Bachelor in Economics
Professional Experience Businessman

Membership on committees  Member of facilities committee
emanating from the board of Member of investment and real state committee
Directors of the Bank:

Board Memberships Board member of Zara Investment (Holding) Company
Jordan Hotel and Tourism Company

Jordanian Electric Power Company

Jordan Himmeh mineral Company

Current External Positions General Manager of Zara Investment (Holding) Company
Vice chairman of Jordan Hotel and Tourism Company

Suha Basil Andraws Ennab

Type of Membership: Non-executive, independent

Nationality: Jordanian

Member Since: 2015

Date of Birth: 4/2/1960

Academic Qualifications Bachelor in Business Administration

Professional Experience Financial and management consultant at Perfect Consulting Company since

9/2007 to 2016

Banking experience for over than 26 years holding the following posts:

Deputy General Manager of Societe Generale Bank Jordan from 9/2003 until
5/2007

Assistant General Manager of Cairo Amman Bank from 9/1992 until 8/2003
Vice-President at Citi Bank of Jordan from 4/1981 until 8/1992

Membership on committees | Chairman of nomination and remunaration Committee
emanating from the board of | Vice Chairman of audit committee

Directors of the Bank: Vice Chairman of strategies committee

Member of Risk management committee

Member of compliance committee

Board Memberships Board member of Euro Arab Insurance Group
Member in Shurka’a Finance company
AL Watanieh for financial services company (Awraq Investments')

Current External Positions Financial and management consultant
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Executive Management as of December 31, 2019
Kamal Ghareeb Abdul Rahim Al-Bakri

Chief Executive Officer

Date Appointed: 04/01/2003
Date of Birth: 07/06/1969
Academic Qualifications: Master's Degree in Management of International Banking and Finance from

Salford Manchester / UK
Bachelor's Degree in law from the University of Jordan

Professional Experience: Member of Jordanian Bar Association

General Manager for Cairo Amman Bank since 2008

Deputy General Manager for Cairo Amman Bank

Legal Department manager and the Legal Adviser of Cairo Amman Bank
Vice Chairman Jordan Loan Guarantee Corporation

Chairman of the Board of Directors of Tourist Transport (Jet)
Board member of Association of Banks in Jordan

Board member of the Jordan Insurance Company

vice head of directors of network international company/Jordan
Board member of National Portfolio Securities

Chairman of the Directors of Tamallak Leasing

Board member of Real Time Gross Settlement System

Board member of Jordan Payment & Clearing Co.

Board member of Safa Bank, Plc (Islamic Bank) — Palestine.

The University of Jordan Board of Trustees.

Dr. Khaled Mahmoud Abdullah Qasim

Chief Shared Services Group Officer

Date Appointed: 05/10/2008
Date of Birth: 22/02/1963
Academic Qualifications: Ph. D in Business Administration

Masters in Business adminstration International Trade
Bachelor in Finance
Holder of a CIB certificate from the Chartered Banker Institute

Professional Experience: Experience in the banking sector through his work in Bank Al Jazira, Arab Bank,
Cairo Amman Bank, Jordan Ahli Bank, Bank of Jordan and National Bank of
Kuwait

Head of Directors of holul Mobile Payments Company
Chairman of the Board of Safa Bank
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Rana Sami Jadallah Sunna

Chief Credit Services Group Officer

Date Appointed:

15/08/1995

Date of Birth:

12/08/1966

Academic Qualifications:

Masters in Business Administration
Bachelor in Accounting

Professional Experience:

Deputy General Manager for Credit and Treasury Services since 10/2014

Deputy General Manager for Banking Operations since 12/2009

Banking experience in the risk management field through her work as Head of
the Risk Management Division and as Risk Management Department Manager
in Cairo Amman Bank since 1998

Head of local facilities department at the Central Bank of Jordan

Board member in the Jordan Mortgage Refinance Company

Board member in Tamallak leasing company

Nizar Tayseer Saleh Mohammed Untill 31/5/2019

Deputy General Manager for Banking Products and Services

Date Appointed:

11/4/2004

Date of Birth:

11/8/1972

Academic Qualifications:

Bachelor in Accounting
Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA)
Certified Public Accountant (CPA, JCPA)

Professional Experience:

Deputy General Manager for Banking Products and Services since 10/2014

Head of Finance since 4/2004 and Head of Risk Management

Department from 2/2010 to 12/2012

Experience in auditing through his work as an audit manager in major auditing
firm

Board member of Daman Investments Co. and Jordan Vegetable Oil Industries
Co.

Reem Younis Mohammad Eses

Chief Treasury and Investment Officer

Date Appointed:

01/03/1990

Date of Birth:

18/05/1964

Academic Qualifications:

Masters in Economics
Bachelor in Economics

Professional Experience:

Head of Treasury since 10/2008

Banking experience through her work as manager of the Treasury Department
at the bank since 1990

Economic researcher at the Royal Scientific Society since 1997

Board member of Safa Bank
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Jan Shawkat Mahmoud Yadaj Zakaria

Chief Central Operations Officer

Date Appointed: 20/10/1990

Date of Birth: 20/02/1968

Academic Qualifications: Bachelor in English Literature

Professional Experience: Banking experience since 1990 in the field of operations, branches and business
procedures

Yousef Abdul Fatah Suleiman Abu Al-Haija

Chief Risk Officer
Date Appointed: 01/08/2005
Date of Birth: 01/01/1976
Academic Qualifications: Bachelor in Public Administration
Professional Experience: Manager of the Operational Risk Department
Banking experience in the field of operations, risk management and financial

Antone Vector Antone Sabella

Chief Compliance Officer

Date Appointed: 16/10/2005
Date of Birth: 2/12/1977
Academic Qualifications: Bachelor in Accounting
Holds CAMS, CCO, Dip (Fin. Crime) certificates
Professional Experience: Manager of the Compliance Department since 2005
Experience in auditing through his work at a major auditing firm.

Margaret Muheeb Issa Makhamreh
Chief Internal Audit Officer

Date Appointed: 27/07/2004

Date of Birth: 04/09/1977

Academic Qualifications: Bachelor in Business Administration

Professional Experience: Banking experience through her work in project management
in the bank and in the Arab Banking Corporation.
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Fuad Younes Abdel Lateef Saleh
Chief Financial and Shareholders Affairs Officer

Date Appointed:

11/04/1992

Date of Birth:

08/01/1960

Academic Qualifications:

Bachelor in Accounting

Professional Experience:

Experience in accounting through his work in Cairo amman bank
Member of Directors committee of tamalk leasing company

Maha Abdullah Abdulhamid Ababneh

Chief Privode Banking Services Officer

Date Appointed:

01/10/1996

Date of Birth:

16/11/1973

Academic Qualifications:

Bachelor in Banking and Financial Sciences

Professional Experience:

Experience within the bank as a branch manager
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Key Employees
Omar Sarhan Ahmad Aqel

Chief Internal Auditing Officer

Date Appointed:

15/02/1989

Date of Birth:

17/05/1963

Academic Qualifications:

Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting

Professional Experience:

Banking experience in operations, internal auditing, credit monitoring and
contract documenting at CAB

Azmi Muhammad Hasan Aweida
Chief Personal Credit Services Officer

Date Appointed:

10/09/1996

Date of Birth:

17/10/1964

Academic Qualifications:

Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting

Professional Experience:

Banking experience in credit from working at CAB and Jordan Kuwait Bank
Member of Directors’ Committee of Tamallak Financial Leasing Company

Yazeed Seitan Yousef Ammari
Chief Commercial Credit Services Officer

Date Appointed:

01/06/2006

Date of Birth:

09/12/1965

Academic Qualifications:

Master’s Degree in Banking and Financial Sciences
Bachelor’s Degree in Financing

Professional Experience:

Banking experience in credit from working at Ahli Bank, Amman Investment
Bank and Arab Land Bank
Member of Directors’ Committee of Tamallak Financial Leasing Company

Mohammad Ali Mahmoud Al Qaisi
Chief Officer and Legal Counsel / Legal and Notarized Contract

Date Appointed:

16/02/2003

Date of Birth:

29/04/1974

Academic Qualifications:

Bachelor’s Degree in Law

Professional Experience:

He was promoted within the bank until he became the head of the legal
department

Hani Mohammad Rashrash Ahmad Rashid Khader

Chief Marketing Officer

Date Appointed:

02/07/2006

Date of Birth:

12/12/1976

Academic Qualifications:

Master’s of Business Administration
Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration

Professional Experience:

Banking operations and marketing from working at Arab Banking Corporation
from 1999 to 2004
Board Member at Al Daman for Investment
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Ahmad Yasin Rashed Al Belbeisi

Chief IT Officer

Date Appointed:

10/11/2008

Date of Birth:

12/03/1983

Academic Qualifications:

Master’s Degree in Information Systems
Bachelor’s Degree in Computer Science

Professional Experience:

Managing IT, projects and security systems since he was appointed at the bank,
working in the following posts: Project manager, program panager, head of
the strategic planning department, head of strategic projects management
department.

Olginia Jamal Saleem Haddad until 26/02/2019

Head of Corporate Banking Services and Products

Date Appointed:

06/10/1990

Date of Birth:

01/01/1969

Academic Qualifications:

Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration

Professional Experience:

Working in the different credit departments at CAB Since 1990

Mohammad Karim Fakhri Mohammad Abu Shagra until 15/10/2019

Head of Strategic and Institutional Excellence

Date Appointed:

01/03/2015

Date of Birth:

14/04/1964

Academic Qualifications:

Bachelor’s Degree in Social Sciences from The University of North Carolina

Professional Experience:

Advisor at Gulf Tech

Unit Manager at Dubai Municipality

Excellence Manager at Dubai Customs

Business Excellence Manager at Dubai Group

Key Analyzer of Quality and Guarantee at the Municipality Affairs Department
at Abu Dhabi Municipality

Ghada Mohammad Naji Nazzal until 29/08/2019

Head of Human Resources

Date Appointed:

26/02/2003

Date of Birth:

25/08/1959

Academic Qualifications:

Master’s in Business Administration

Professional Experience:

Head of Human Resources at ABC Bank from 01/01/1998 - 10/01/2000
Head of Human Resources and Administration at Jordan Projects for Tourism
Development from 01/10/2000 — 16/02/2003
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There are no contracts, projects or deals concluded by the issuing company with the affiliate
companies, Board of Directors members, General Director, any employee in the company or
their relatives within the scope of the bank’s regular knowledge.

Below is a summary of the transactions concluded with stakeholders during the year:

Stakeholders

Board of
Directors Higher
Members and Executive Others*

Persons Related Administration
to Them

JD JD

Items within the statement of financial position

Direct facilitations 28,213,495 3,195,253 19,717,360 = 51,126,108 45,469,892
Deposits at the bank 47,942,756 2,535,320 11,087,316 | 61,565,392 52,889,053
Cash insurances 62,701 76 113,409 176,186 244,488
Items outside the statement of financial position

Indirect facilitations 1,669,614 300 356,267 2,026,181 ‘ 2,702,755

For the year ending on
31 December

2019 \ 2018
Items of the statement of income
Credit commissions and
. 493,980 80,384 2,642,221 3,216,585 4,831,598
interests
Debit commissions and
. 1,654,963 10,360 236,656 1,901,979 2,127,931
interests
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Directors’ Shareholdings

Name of the Board Member 2019 2018
Mr. Yazid Adnan Mustafa Al-Mufti Jordanian 2,157 2,044
Relatives - -

Mr. Khaled Sabih Taher Al-Masri Jordanian 9,500 9,000
Relatives - -
Banque Misr Egyptian 20,477,402 19,399,644
Mr. Mohamed Mahmoud Ahmed El-Etrebi Egyptian - -
Relatives - -

Mr. Yasin Khalil Mohamad Yasin Al-Talhouni Jordanian 4,992,489 4,729,727
Relatives - -
Arab Investment and Trade Company Saudi 14,866,985 3,671,035
Mr. Ghassan Ibrahim Fares Akeel Jordanian 97,850 92,700
Relatives - -
Dima Jamal Zuhdi Hamed (Wife) Jordanian 18,287 17,325
Ibrahim Ghassan Ibrahim Akeel (Son) Jordanian 15,946 15,107
Omar Ghassan Ibrahim Akeel (Son) Jordanian 15,946 15,107
Maia Ghassan Ibrahim Akeel (Daughter) Jordanian 10,555 10,000
Mr. Hassan Ali Hussein Abu Al-Ragheb Jordanian 51,062 48,375
Relatives - -
Social Security Corporation Jordanian 14,342,025 12,972,398
Mr. Fouad Abu Ghosh Jordanian - -
Relatives - -

Mr. Sharif Mahdi Hosni Al-Saifi Jordanian 423,787 401,483
Relatives - -
Taimour Sharif Mahdi Al-Saifi (Son) Jordanian 111,342 105,482
Kayan Sharif Mahdi Al-Saifi (Son) Jordanian 114,383 108,363
Mrs. Suha Basil Andraws Ennab Jordanian 1,520 1,440
Relatives - -

Mr. Sami Issa Eid Smeirat Jordanian 1,055 1,000
Relatives - -
Issam"Mohammed Farouq" Rushdi Muhtadi Jordanian 5,327 5,047

Relatives

Board of Directors’ membership is 4 years and ends by April 2022

No contributions made for companies owned by members of the Board of Directors and their

relatives.
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Executives’ Informed Employees’ and Relatives’ Shareholdings

2019 2018
Nationality
Personal Relatives Personal Relatives

Mr. Kamal Ghareeb Abdul Rahim Al-Bakri  jordanian 105 - 100 _
Mr. Khaled Mahmoud Abdullah Qasim Jordanian 31,666 - 30,000 -
Mrs. Rana Sami Jadallah Sunna Jordanian 7,600 4,750 7,200 4,500
Mrs. Reem Younis Mohammad Eses Jordanian - - - -
Miss Jan Shawkat Mahmoud Yadaj Zakaria Jordanian - - - R
Mr. Fuad Younes Abdel Lateef Saleh Jordanian - - - R
Mrs. Margaret Muheeb Issa Makhamreh Jordanian - - - R
Mr. Antone Vector Antone Sabella Jordanian - - - R
Ms. Yousef Abdul Fatah Suleiman Abu Al-  Jordanian
Haija
Mr. Yazid Seitan Yousef Ammari Jordanian - - - ;
Mr. Azmi Mohammad Hasan Aweida Jordanian - - - -
Mr. Omar Sarhan Ahmad Agel Jordanian - - - -
Mr. Hani Mohammad Rashrash Ahmad )

Jordanian - - - -
Rasheed Khader
Miss. Maha Abdullah Abdelhameed Jordanian
Ababneh
Mr. Ahmad Yasin Rasheed al Belbeisi Jordanian - - - -
Mr. Mohammad Ali Mahmoud Al Qaisi Jordanian - - - -
Mr. Nizar Tayseer Saleh Mohammed Jordanian - - 10,000 10,000
Mrs. Olginia Jamal Saleem Haddad Jordanian - - - -
Miss. Ghada Mohammad Naji Nazzal Jordanian - - - -
Mr. Mohammad Karim Fakhri Mohammad .

Jordanian - - - -
Abu Shakra
Total 39,371 4,750 47,300 14,500

No contributions made for companies owned by members of the Board of Directors and their

relatives
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Shareholders with 1% or more ownership

2019

Current

2018

Mortgaged Current

Ultimate

Mortgaged Beneficiary

Sabih Taher Al-Masri

Al-Massira Investment Company 21,636,823 20,498,043 - Khaled Sabih Al-Masri
Sireen Sabih Al-Masri
Banque Misr 20,477,402 19,399,644 - -
. . Sabih Taher Al-Masri
Al-Massira International Company 18,950,000 18,981,458 - . .
Khaled Sabih Al-Masri
Social Security Corporation 14,342,025 12,972,398 - -
Palestine Telecommunications
11,167,017 10,579,280 - -
Company
Sabih Taher Darwish Al-Masri - 9,384,652 - Himself
Hisham Zafer Al-Masri
Hanaa Zafer Al-Masri
Al Zafer Investment Company 8,135,224 7,707,055 - Maha Zafer Al-Masri
Raghda Ibrahim Nemr Al-
Nabulsi
The Congress Foundation 7,604,080 7,203,866 - Mufidah Abdulrahman Madi
Yasin Khalil Mohamad Yasin .
. 4,992,489 2,530,758 4,729,727 2,397,564 Himself
Al-Talhouni
Arab Supply and Trading Company 14,866,985 3,671,035 - Khaled Sabih Al-Masri
Rola Khalil Mohammad Yasin .
. 1,946,621 3,557,828 - Himself
Al-Talhouni
Fatena Ahmad Malas
Nour Abdelkarim
Kuwait Wealth Holding Ltd 3,201,201 3,032,717 - Al Kabariti
Awn Abdelkarim
Al Kabariti
Lanajene Munib Abdul Rahman Madi 2,690,762 2,510,171 2,549,143 2,378,103 Himself
Abdelkarim Allawi Al Kabariti
. . Fatena Ahmad Malas
Kuwait Projects Prospector Ltd 2,209,910 2,093,599 - . o
Nour Abdelkarim Al Kabariti
Awn Abdelkarim Al Kabariti
Middle East Insurance Company 2,143,292 2,030,488 - -
Najwa Bint Nafez Bin Saleh Mustafa 2,111,105 1,999,995 - Himself
Abeer Bint Nafez Bin Saleh Mustafa 2,111,105 1,999,995 - Himself
Zeina Bint Nafez Bin Saleh Mustafa 2,111,105 1,999,995 - Himself
Rola Bint Nafez Bin Saleh Mustafa 2,111,105 1,999,995 - Himself
Hamzah Khalil Mohamad Yasin )
. 1,559,527 848,609 1,998,500 1,325,000 Himself
Al-Talhouni
Mary Issa Elias Allusi 2,005,549 1,899,994 - Himself
Total 146,373,327 5,889,538 | 140,289,407 6,100,667 -

The ownership of Mr. Sabih Al-Masri’s Group represents 29,6% of the bank’s paid-in capital.

The ownership of Mr. Yasin Al- Talhouni’s Group represents 6,47 % of the bank’s paid-in capital.
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Board of Directors Remunerations during 2019

committees Salaries and

Transportation Travel Bonus Total

Attendance Allowance

Mr. Yazid Adnan Mustafa
. - 13,649 - 405,000 418,649
Al-Mufti
Mr. Khaled Sabih Taher
. 15,000 - 14,500 5,000 34,500
Al-Masri
Mr. Mohamed Mahmoud
. 15,000 3,410 7,000 5,000 30,410
Ahmed El-Etrebi
Mr. Yasin Khalil
Mohamad Yasin Al- 15,000 - 6,800 5,000 26,800
Talhouni
Mr. Ghassan Ibrahim
15,000 12,780 24,000 5,000 56,780
Fares Akeel
Mr. Hassan Ali Hussein
15,000 - 16,000 5,000 36,000
Abu Al-Ragheb
Social Security
. 15,000 - 19,500 5,000 39,500
Corporation
Mr. Sharif Mahdi Hosni
f- Sharit Viahdi Hosn! 15,000 - 7,600 5,000 27,600
Al-Saifi
Mrs. Suha Basil Andraws
15,000 - 40,000 5,000 60,000
Ennab
Mr. Tarek Mufleh Moh’d
- - - 2,219 2,219
Akel
Mr. Sami Issa Eid Smeirat 15,000 - 37,500 3,438 55,938
| "Moh d
ssam-iViohamme , 15,000 - 35,400 2,781 53,181
Farouq" Rushdi Muhtadi
Mr. Arfan Khalil Kamel
- - - 1,562 1,562
Ayass
Total 150,000 29,839 208,300 455,000 843,139

A car and a driver are provided for the Chairman
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Executive Management & Key Employees Remunerations During 2019

Salaries and

Boones Total

Position

Allowance

Mr. Kamal Ghareeb Abdul Rahim

. Chief Executive Officer 568,624 253,675 822,299
Al-Bakri
Chief Shared i
Mr. Khaled Mahmoud Abdullah Qasim ff'iier ared services group 263,828 105,000 368,828
hief . .
Mrs. Rana Sami Jadallah Al-Sunna Chief Credit Services group 212,608 48,000 260,608
officer
) Chief Treasury and Investment
Mrs. Reem Younis Mohammad Al- Eses officer 134,796 39,500 174,296
Mi . . .
iss J.an Shawkat Mahmoud Yadaj Ch|.ef Central Operations 141,752 23,000 164,752
Zakaria officer
Chief Fi d
Mr. Fuad Younes Abddel lateef Saleh e Finance an . . 103,664 18,500 122,164
Shareholders Affairs officer
Mrs. Margaret Muheeb Issa Makhamreh | Chief Internal Audit officer 73,040 22,055 95,095
Mr. Antone Vector Antone Sabella Chief Compliance Officer 94,068 19,600 113,668
Mr. Yo f Abdul fatah Sulei
f. Touset Abdul Tatah suleiman Chief Risk officer 76,000 18,250 94,250
Abu Al-Haija
Chief C ial credit
Mr. Yazeed Seitan Yousef Ammari |e. omn_leraa credi 136,192 24,500 160,692
services Officer
. . Chief Personal Credit Services
Azmi Muhammad Hasan Aweida . 114,864 19,000 133,864
officer
Omar Sarhan Ahmad Agel Chief Internal Control officer 101,496 18,000 119,496
Hani Moh d Rashrash Ahmad
ani Viohammad Rashrash Ahma Chief Marketing officer 78,880 23,600 102,480
Rashid Khader
Miss. Maha Abdullah Abdelhameed Chief private Banking
. . 91,020 27,300 118,320
Ababneh Services officer
Ahmad Yasin Rashed Al Belbeisi Chief IT officer 76,098 9,500 85,598
Chief officer and Legal
Mohammad Ali Mahmoud Al Qaisi counsel/Legal and Notarized 103,570 15,666 119,236
Contracts
Mr. Ni
r . izar Tayseer Saleh Mohammed Depu.ty General Manager c?f 271,615 21,707 293,322
Until 31/5/2019 Banking Products and Services
L Head of Corporate Banking
Olgl.nla Jamal Saleem Haddad Products and Services 158,467 9,333 167,800
Until 26/2/2019
Management
Ghada Mohammad Naji Nazzal
Until 29/8/2019 Head of Human Resources 192,627 20,500 213,127
Mohammad Kar_lm Fakhri Mohammad Hea.d of Strategic and 81,762 18,500 100,262
Abu Shagra Until 15/10/2019 Institutional Excellence
Total 3,074,971 755,186 3,830,157

A car and a driver are provided for the CEO.

The members of the Board of Directors and the Exceutive Management acknowledge that they
do not receive any personal or other related benefits or rewards other than those mentioned

in the above table.
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The bank does not rely on any particular vendors and/or customers that constitute 10% or more of the
bank’s purchases and/or revenues.

The bank does not enjoy any privilege of governmental protection on any products or activities.

The bank did not receive any patents or franchises.

Government decisions did not have any material effect on the bank’s operations, products, or its
abilits to compete.

The bank applies the highest quality standards and best global practices in all its banking activities.
All activities and operations performed were of a recurring nature and in line with the bank’s main
activities.

Capital expenditures during 2019 were JD 6,940,073.

Audit fees for 2019 were JD 225,796 in addition to sales and value added taxes and distributed as
follows:

Cairo Amman Bank 195,016
Tamallak Leasing 6,000
Awraq Investments 6,500
Al-Watanieh Securities 3,000
Safa Bank 15,280
Total 225,796

Other consulting fees paid to the external auditors during the year amounted to JD 94,360 in addition
to sales tax.

The bank did not have any other contracts, projects and commitments with subsidiary companies,
the chairman and members of the Board of Directors except for regular banking operations that are
fully disclosed in note 40 to the financial statement. Those transactions are made in accordance with
Central Bank of Jordan’s regulations.
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The Chairman, Chief executive officer and the Head of Finance acknowledge the accuracy and
completeness of the information and financial data provided in the annual report.

Chairman Chief Executive Officer Head of Finance and Shareholders Affairs
Yazid Adnan Mustafa Al-Mufti Kamal Ghareeb Abdul Rahim Al-Bakri Fuad Younes Abdel lateef Saleh
LP-U@QQ—\-’J é/ oa}
Py ///

Statement from the Board of Directors and Executive Management

The Board of Directors also acknowledges its responsibility for the preparation of the financial
statements for the year 2019 noting that the bank maintains an effective internal control
structure.

The Board of Directors affirms that according to its knowledge and beliefs, there are no
significant issues, that would affect the sustainability of the bank’s operations during the next
fiscal year of 2020.

The Board of Directors also acknowledges that it did not receive any benefits for its work with
the bank in 2019 that was not discolosed, whether it was of monitary or material nature and
whether it was for personal benefit or for people in relationship with.

Chairman Vice Chairman Khaled Sabih Taher Al-Masri
aled Sabih Taher Al-Masri
Yazid Adnan Mustafa Al-Mufti Mohamed Mahmoud Ahmed El-Etrebi
‘1 P % \
Sami Issa Eid Smeirat Yasin Khalil Mohamad Yasin Al-Talhouni Ghassan lIbrahim Fares Akeel
,/""l; ' e}
Hassan Ali Hussein Abu Al-Ragheb Sharif Mahdi Hosni Al-Saifi Suha Basil Andraws Ennab
, |
Issam"Mohammed Farouq" Fadi Abdulwahab Abdulfattah
Rushdi Muhtadi Abu Ghosh

a —
/ /2
V.
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Cairo Amman Bank’s Organizational Structure

Chief Internal Audit Officer

Chief Compliance Officer

Chief Risk Officer

Chief Internal Control Officer ]7
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Safa Bank’s Organizational Structure
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Deloitte & Touche (ME) — Jordan
— Jabal Amman, 5th Circle
e OI e 190Zahran Street
Amman 11118, Jordan
Tel: +962 (6) 5502200

Fax: +962 (6) 5502210
www.deloitte.com

Independent Auditor’s Report

AM/009489

To the Shareholders of

Cairo Amman Bank

(A Public Shareholding Limited Company)
Amman - The Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Cairo Amman Bank (the “Bank”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as of December 31, 2019, consolidated statement of income, consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in owners’ equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to financial
statements, including the summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Cairo Amman Bank as of
December 31, 2019, and its financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted
by the Central Bank of Jordan.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Our
responsibilities under those standards, are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Bank’s consolidated financial statements in
Jordan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these

matters.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities Paragraph”
relating to the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, in addition
to all other related matters. Accordingly, our audit includes performing the procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks regarding the material errors in the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Description of the manner of examine of each item below is provided within the audit

procedures:

Key Audit Matters

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

Allowance for Credit Losses on Credit
Facilities
As described in Notes 12 and 22 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Bank had
direct credit facilities of JD 1,677 million as at 31
December 2019 representing 54% of total
assets, in addition to indirect credit facilities
amounted to JD 276 million as off- Statement
of Financial position items, with relation to
expected credit losses amounted to JD 70
million.

The recognition of allowance for credit losses on
credit facilities (“"Credit facilities”) is the higher
of Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) under
International Financial Reporting Standard 9:
Financial Instruments ("IFRS 9”), determined in
accordance with Central Bank of Jordan (the
“CBJ") guidelines, and the provision required by
the CBJ regulations on valuation of credit
facilities and calculation of their provision (“the
CBJ regulations”).

Recognition of ECL under IFRS 9, adopted to CBJ
guidelines, is a complex accounting policy, which

requires considerable judgement in its
implementation. ECL is dependent on
management’s  judgement in assessing

significant increase in credit risk (SICR), credit-
impairment status (default) and classification of
credit facilities into various stages, development
of models for assessing the probability of default
of customers and estimating cash flows from
recovery procedures.

We established an audit approach which includes
both testing the design and operating effectiveness
of internal controls over the determination of
expected credit losses and risk-based substantive
audit procedures. Our procedures over internal
controls focused on the governance over the process
controls around the ECL methodology, completeness
and accuracy of credit facilities data used in the
expected loss models, management review of
outcomes, management validation and approval
processes, the assignment of borrowers’ risk
classification, consistency of application of
accounting policies and the process for calculating
allowances.

The primary substantive procedures which we
performed to address this key audit matter included,
but were not limited to, the following:

e For a risk-based sample of individual loans, we
performed a detailed credit review, assessed the
appropriateness of information for evaluating the
credit-worthiness and staging classification of
individual borrowers and challenged the
assumptions underlying the expected credit loss
allowance calculations, such as estimated future
cash flows, collateral valuations and estimates of
recovery as well as considered the consistency of
the Bank’s application of its impairment policy.
Further, we evaluated controls over approval,
accuracy and completeness of impairment
allowances and governance controls, including
assessing key management and committee
meetings that form part of the approval process
for credit impairment allowances;
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Key Audit Matters

How our audit addressed the
key audit matter

Recognition of specific provisions on impaired
facilities under the CBJ instructions is based on
the rules prescribed by the CBJ on the minimum
provisions to be recognised together with any
additional provisions to be recognised based on
management’s estimate of expected cash flows
related to those credit facilities.

In calculating expected credit losses, the Bank
considered credit quality indicators for each
loan and portfolios, stratifies credit facilities by
risk grades and estimates losses for each
facility based upon their nature and risk profile.
Auditing these complex judgements and
assumptions involves especially challenging
auditor judgement due to the nature and extent
of audit evidence and effort required to address
these matters.

For further information on this key audit matter
refer to Note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

e For credit facilities not tested individually, we

evaluated controls over the modelling process,
including model monitoring, validation and
approval. We tested controls over model outputs
and the mathematical accuracy and computation
of the expected credit losses by re-performing or
independently calculating elements of the
expected credit losses based on relevant source
documents with the involvement of our modelling
specialists. We challenged key assumptions,
inspected the calculation methodology and traced
a sample back to source data. We evaluated key
assumptions such as thresholds used to
determine SICR and including the related
weighting;

We evaluated post model adjustments and
management overlays in the context of key model
and data limitations identified by the Bank in
order to assess the reasonableness of these
adjustments, focusing on PD and LGD used for
corporate loans, and challenged their rationale;

e We assessed the reasonableness of forward looking

information incorporated into the impairment
calculations by involving our specialists to
challenge the multiple economic scenarios chosen
and weighting applied to capture non-linear
losses; and

e We tested, utilizing our internal IT specialists, the

IT application used in the credit impairment
process and verified the integrity of data used as
input to the models including the transfer of data
between source systems and the impairment
models. We evaluated system-based and manual
controls over the recognition and measurement
of impairment allowances.
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Key Audit Matters

How our audit addressed the key
audit matter

U.S Lawsuit and Legal Claim

The recognition and measurement of provisions
relating to the U.S lawsuit and the measurement
and disclosure of legal cases in respect of legal
claims requires significant judgement to be
applied by the directors and as a result is
considered to be a key audit matter.

Refer to note xx for details about lawsuits and
note 47 for details about further details.

IT systems and controls over financial
reporting

We identified IT systems and controls over the
Bank'’s financial reporting as an area of focus
due to the extensive volume and variety of
transactions which are processed daily by the
Bank and rely on the effective operation of
automated and IT dependent manual controls.
There is a risk that automated accounting
procedures and related internal controls are not
accurately designed and operating effectively.
In particular, the incorporated relevant controls
are essential to limit the potential for fraud and
error as a result of change to an application or
underlying data.

We obtained an understanding of the procedure
adopted by management to determine the
measurement and disclosure of these matters.

We reviewed the design and implementation of
controls in this area.

We discussed and obtained an opinion from the
bank’s external legal consultant about the
existence and valuation relating to lawsuits and
legal claims and the related possible liability to
the bank as a result of these matters.

We assessed the qualifications, reputation,
competence and skills of management’s
external legal consultant.

We assessed the disclosures relating to this
area in the consolidated financial statements
to determine if they are in compliance with
IFRSs.

Our audit approach relies on automated controls
and therefore the following procedures were
designed to test access and control over IT
systems:

- We obtained an understanding of the
applications  relevant to financial
reporting and the infrastructure
supporting these applications.

- We tested IT general controls relevant to
automated controls and computer-
generated information covering access
security, program changes, data center
and network operations.

- We examined computer generated
information used in financial reports from
relevant applications and key controls
over their report logics.

- We performed testing on the key
automated controls on significant IT
systems relevant to business processes.
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Other Matter

The accompanying consolidated financial statement are a translation of the original
consolidation financial statement which are in Arabic language, to which reference should be
made. The annuals reports are expected to be made available to us after the date of this audit
report. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statement does not cover the other
information, and we do not express any form of assurance or conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to
read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the Central Bank of Jordan, and
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing
the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do
SO.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exist. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

+ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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+  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank's internal control.

»  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

«  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concermn basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a materal uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exist, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to
continue as a going concern.

«  Evaluate the overall presantation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in intemal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards procedures.

From the matters communicated with those charged with govemance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period, and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report, unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonable
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

The Bank maintains proper books of accounts which are in agresment with the consolidated
financial statements and we recommend that the General Assembly of the Shareholders to
approve these consolidated financial statements.

C
D Sl & Tt
Amman - Jordan loitte & Touche (M.E.) - Jordan

February 24, 2020
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CAIRO AMMAN BANK
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ,December 31

2019
Notes
JD JD
Assets
Cash and balances at Central Banks 5 332,657,295 333,370,286
Balances at banks and financial institutions 6 158,785,257 117,852,700
Deposits at banks and financial institutions 7 88,040,014 89,579,213
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 8 9,405,269 11,503,790
Financial assets at fair value through other
. 9 55,412,453 52,322,447
comprehensive income
Financial assets at amortized cost-net 10 675,853,262 539,067,213
Financial assets pledged as collateral 11 73,714,000 24,562,000
Direct credit facilities-net 12 1,599,075,578 1,649,570,401
Property and equipment-net 13 42,521,471 43,232,345
Intangible assets - net 14 6,085,563 8,120,517
Right of use assets 3/B 27,979,663 -
Deferred tax assets 21 9,325,649 8,699,628
Other assets 15 54,945,161 57,533,265
Total Assets 3,133,800,635 2,935,413,805
Liabilities And Owners’ Equity
Liabilities:
Banks and financial institutions’ deposits 16 296,058,936 378,802,862
Customers’ deposits 17 2,050,955,995 1,913,902,093
Margin accounts 18 58,704,352 49,580,969
Borrowed funds 19/A 226,319,099 162,109,306
Subordinated Loans 19/B 18,540,350 -
Sundry provisions 20 15,069,457 15,403,533
Income tax provision 21 16,954,411 15,202,732
Lease Liabilities 3/B 25,927,574 -
Deferred tax liabilities 21 804,942 883,100
Other liabilities 22 65,236,153 53,189,141
Total Liabilities 2,774,571,269 2,589,073,736
Owners’ Equity
BANK'S SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Authorized and paid-up capital 23 190,000,000 180,000,000
Statutory reserve 24 79,007,427 74,578,456
General banking risk reserve 24 3,854,197 3,230,765
Cyclical fluctuations reserve 24 10,894,653 10,891,362
Fair value reserve-net 26 (7,848,900) (9,789,482)
Retained earnings 27 73,967,732 77,486,036
Total Bank’s Shareholders’ Equity 349,875,109 336,397,137
Non-controlling interest 9,354,257 9,942,932
Total Owners' Equity 359,229,366 346,340,069
Total Liabilities and Owners’ Equity 3,133,800,635 2,935,413,805

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES CONSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SHOULD BE READ WITH THEM AND WITH THE ACCOMPANYING INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT.
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CAIRO AMMAN BANK
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

shareholders)

2019 2018
Notes
JD JD

Interest income 28 182,448,243 164,963,345
Less: Interest expense 29 (80,335,190) (66,660,284)
Net interest income 102,113,053 98,303,061
Net commission income 30 19,152,765 19,338,923
Net interest and commission income 121,265,818 117,641,984
Gain from foreign currencies 31 4,688,219 4,760,073
Gain (Loss) from financial assets at fair value through
orofit or loss 32 62,649 (343,437)
Dividends from financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income 9&33 2,902,829 3,903,996
Other income 34 7,222,204 5,478,143
Gross profit 136,141,719 131,440,759
Employees’ expenses 35 41,971,934 41,125,875
Depreciation and amortization 13& 14 9,407,546 9,560,877
Other expenses 36 32,203,118 28,877,123
Provision for expected credit loss 37 7,789,572 8,979,483
Sundry provisions 20 561,192 912,927
Total expenses 91,933,362 89,456,285
Profit before tax 44,208,357 41,984,474
Income tax expense 21 (16,701,547) (12,277,739)
Profit for the year 27,506,810 29,706,735
Allocated to:
Bank»s shareholders 28,095,485 30,126,670
Non-controlling interests (588,675) (419,935)
Profit for the year 27,506,810 29,706,735

JD/ Fils JD/ Fils
Basic and diluted earnings per share (Bank»s 38 0.148 0.159

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES CONSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SHOULD BE READ WITH THEM AND WITH THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT.

Y
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CAIRO AMMAN BANK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

2019 2018
JD JD

Profit for the year 27,506,810 29,706,735
Add: Other comprehensive income items after tax which will not be i )
reclassified subsequently to the consolidated statement of income:
Net change in fair value reserve 1,662,487 (777,618)
Total Comprehensive income for the year 29,169,297 28,929,117
Total Comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Bank>s shareholders 29,757,972 29,349,052
Non-controlling interests (588,675) (419,935)
Total Comprehensive income for the year 29,169,297 28,929,117

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES CONSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SHOULD BE READ WITH THEM AND WITH THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT.
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I Consolidated Financial Statements

CAIRO AMMAN BANK

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS For the Year Ended December 31,

Notes

2019

JD

2018
JD

Cash Flows from Operating Activities Profit before tax for the year 44,208,357 41,984,474
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization 13& 14 9,407,546 9,560,877
Provision for expected credit losses 37 7,789,572 8,979,483
Sundry provisions 20 561,192 912,927
Unrealized losses from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 32 864,242 568,317
Loss from sale of property and equipment 34 219,137 10,422
(Gain) from sale of repossessed assets 34 (344,818) (5,520)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (4,511,123) (4,563,226)
Cash flow from operating activities before changes in assets and sundry provision 58,194,105 57,447,754
(Increase) Restricted balances with Central Banks - (1,276,200)
Decrease in deposits at banks and financial institutions 1,540,386 4,675,427
Decrease (Increase) in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,234,279 (8,315,425)
Decrease (Increase) in direct credit facilities 42,788,135 (132,982,140)
Decrease (Increase) in other assets 2,932,922 (10,324,942)
Increase in banks and financial institution deposits (maturing after more than
5,000,000 9,592,529

three months)
Increase in customer deposits 137,053,902 164,037,247
Increase (Decrease) in Margin Accounts 9,123,383 (1,686,748)
Increase in other liabilities 9,750,175 6,613,958
Net cash flows from operating activities before income tax 267,617,287 87,781,460
Income tax paid 21 (15,198,995) (14,440,422)
Income tax provision paid 20 (895,268) (2,677,800)
Net cash flows from (used in) operating activities 251,523,024 70,663,238
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Purchase) of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (2,084,600) (1,190,082)
Sale of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 202,029 15,000
(Purchase) of other financial assets at amortized cost (243,742,226) (370,954,346)
Maturity and sale of other financial assets at amortized cost 57,991,368 136,330,854
(Purchase) of property and equipment 13 (5,938,551) (8,092,936)

Sale of property and equipment - net 59,218 64,240
(Purchase) of intangible assets 14 (1,001,522) (1,556,320)
Net cash flows (used in) investing activities (194,514,284) (245,383,590)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Increase in borrowed funds 91,312,963 55,476,736
Borrowed funds settled (27,103,170) (8,273,878)
Increase in subordinated loans 19/B 18,540,350 -
Dividends distributed to shareholders (16,200,000) (21,600,000)
Capital increase related expenses (80,000) (2,590)
Net cash flows from financing activities 66,470,143 25,600,268
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 4,511,123 4,563,226
Net Increase (Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 123,478,883 (149,120,084)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year 159,813,956 304,370,814
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year 39 287,803,962 159,813,956
Non-monetary items
Right of use Assets 27,979,663 -

Lease Liabilities

(25,927,574)

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES CONSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SHOULD BE READ WITH THEM AND WITH THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT.
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I Consolidated Financial Statements

CAIRO AMMAN BANK
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. General

Cairo Amman Bank was established as a public shareholding limited company registered and
incorporated in Jordan in 1960 in accordance with the Jordanian Companies Laws and Regulations
No. (12) For the year 1964. Its registered head office is in Amman, the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan...
The Bank provides its banking and financial services through its head office located in Amman and 95
branches located in Jordan, and 21 branches in Palestine and 1 in Bahrain, and its subsidiaries.

The Bank'’s shares are listed on the Amman Stock Exchange.

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the bank’s Board of Directors in
their meeting held on February 10, 2020, and are subject to the approval of the General Assembly of
the shareholders and the Central Bank of Jordan.

2. Significant Accounting Policies:
Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statement

The consolidated financial statements for the Bank and its subsidiaries have been prepared in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standard Board, and their related interpretations issued by the International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee of the International Accounting Standards Board, the effective
local laws, the effective instructions of countries the bank operates in, and which were adopted by
the Central Bank of Jordan.

The major differences between the IFRS as they should be applied and what has been adopted at the

Central Bank of Jordan are:

a. The expected credit loss provisions are configured in accordance with the IFRS (9) and in accordance
with the instructions of the Central Bank of Jordan, whichever is stronger, the fundamental
differences are:

- The debt instruments issued by the Jordanian government or their guarantee, in addition to
any other credit offers with the Jordanian government or guarantee, are excluded so that
credit exposures are processed on the Jordanian government and guaranteed without credit
losses.

- When calculating expected credit losses against credit exposures, the calculation results are
compared in accordance with the IFRS Standard (9) with the instructions of the Central Bank of
Jordan No. (47/2009) of 10 December 2009 for each stage at a time and the most severe results
are taken.

b. Interest, returns and commissions are suspended on non-performing credit facilities and financing
granted to customers in accordance with the instructions of the Central Bank of Jordan.
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C.

Assets that have been acquired by the Bank in fulfilment of a debt in the consolidated financial
position list are reflected in other assets by the value of the bank’s ownership or fair value, whichever
is lower, and revalued in the history of consolidated financial statements individually, and any
depreciation of the consolidated financial statements is recorded as a loss in the consolidated
income list and the increase is not recorded as revenue where the subsequent increase in the
consolidated income list is taken to the extent that the amount of decline recorded earlier is taken
to the extent that the value of the decline recorded above is not exceeded. As of the beginning
of 2015, a gradual allocation was made for debt-owned real estate, which has been acquired for
more than 4 years, based on the Circular of the Central Bank of Jordan No. 10/1/4076 dated March
27,2014 and No. 10/1/2510 on February 14, 2017. The Central Bank of Jordan issued a circular no.
10/1/13967 on October 25, 2018, in which it approved the extension of Circular No. 10/1/16607 on
December 17, 2017, in which it confirmed the postponement of the allocation until the end of
2019. Under the Central Bank'’s circular no. 10/1/16239 on November 21, 2019, the deduction of the
required allocations against property owned by (5%) will be completed. Of the total book values
of these properties (regardless of the duration of the violation) as of 2021, the required 50% is
reached. Of those properties by the end of 2029

Impairment provision on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive Income.

A provision was recorked for the group’s investment in one of the banks traded in a financial
market based on the instructions of the Central Bank based on conditions that were applied at
that point of time.

The provision has not been released after the end of these circumstances in application of the
principle of caution and caution by the Central Bank of Jordan, noting that there are no signs of
a decline in investment by the approval of the bank’s management.

Additional allocations are calculated in the consolidated financial statements in exchange for
some of the bank’s external investments in some neighboring countries.

Consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with the historical cost principle,
excluding financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through the statement of income
and financial assets at fair value through comprehensive income and derivatives that appear at
fair value on a date consolidated financial statements. It also shows at fair value the financial
assets and liabilities that have been hedged to the risks of change in their fair value.

The Jordanian dinar is the currency of the consolidated financial statements, which represents the
functional currency of the bank.

The accounting policies used in the preparation of consolidated financial statements are similar to
the accounting policies followed in the preparation of consolidated financial statements for the
year ended December 31, 2018, except for the effect of the Note (3).



I Consolidated Financial Statements

Basis of Consolidation of Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries
where the Bank holds control over the subsidiaries. The control exists when the Bank controls the
subsidiaries significant and relevant activities and is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the subsidiaries. All balances, transactions, income and expenses between the Bank
and subsidiaries are eliminated.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Bank,
using consistent accounting policies. If different accounting policies were applied by the subsidiaries,
adjustments shall be made on their financial statements in order to comply with those of the Bank.
The Bank reassesses the extent of its control over the company in which it invests if the facts and
circumstances indicate changes in the elements of control mentioned above.

When a bank has less voting rights than the majority rights of the company in which it invests, the
bank has the control over the company in which it invests when it has sufficient voting rights that give
it the practical ability to direct activities related to the company invested in it unilaterally. The Bank
considers all relevant facts and circumstances when assessing whether its voting rights are sufficient
to give it authority over the investing company, including:

The size of the bank’s voting rights against the size of the other voting rights holders and their
distribution among them.

Potential voting rights owned by the bank.

Rights arising from any other contractual arrangements.

Any other facts or circumstances indicate that the company is currently or is unable to direct

the relevant activities when the decision is necessary. Including voting patterns at previous
shareholder meetings.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries of the same financial period are prepared using the same
accounting policies as the Bank, if the subsidiaries have accounting policies different from those of
the Bank and the necessary adjustments are made to the financial statements of the subsidiaries. To
comply with the bank’s accounting policies.
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The Bank owns the following subsidiaries as of 31 December 2019:

. Paid-up Ownership . Country of Ownership
Company’s Name . Nature of Operation {
Capital Percentage Operation Date
(JD) %
Al-Watanieh Fi ial Brok d
.a anieh Financia 5,500,000 100 ' rokerage an Jordan 1992
Services Company investment management
Al-Watanieh Securities
1,600,000 100 Brokerage Palestine 1995
Company
Tamallak for Financial . .
. 5,000,000 100 Finance Leasing Jordan 2013
Leasing
Safa Bank 53,175,000 79 Islamic Banking Palestine 2016

- The important financial information for the subsidiaries as of December 31, 2019 are as follows:

Al-Watanieh Financial Services
Company (Awraq)

December 31,

2019

JD

Al-Watanieh Securities Company

December 31,
2019
JD

2018
JD

Total Assets 17,814,522 15,901,594 2,025,376 2,027,581
Total Liabilities 8,883,052 6,769,974 763,945 644,119
Net Assets 8,931,470 9,131,620 1,261,431 1,383,462

For the Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018
JD D

For the Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018
JD JD

Total Revenue

1,745,400 1,487,717

3,010,460 2,844,268

Total Expenses

891,786 865,713

5,815,345 4,845,152

Tamallak for Financial Leasing
December 31,
2019

D

2018
D

Safa Bank
December 31,
2019

JD

Total Assets 38,340,142 32,906,333 168,214,244 117,722,507
Total Liabilities 31,731,852 26,895,364 123,643,611 70,346,989
Net Assets 6,608,290 6,010,969 44,570,633 47,375,518

For the Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018
JD

JD

For the Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018
D JD

Total Revenue

1,745,400 1,487,717

3,010,460 2,844,268

Total Expenses

891,786 865,713

5,815,345 4,845,152

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated in the consolidated Income Statement from the date of their
acquisition which is the date on which control is transferred to the Bank. The results of the
disposed subsidiaries are consolidated in the consolidated income statement up to date of
disposal, which is the date on which the Bank losses control over the subsidiaries.
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Control is achieved when the Bank:

* has the power over the investee;
e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
* Has the ability to use its power to affect the investee’s returns.

The Bank reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the elements of control listed above.

When the Bank’s voting rights become less than the majority of the voting rights of an investee,
it has the power to control the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. In this regard, the
Bank considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Bank’s voting
rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

¢ the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of other vote
holding rights;

e Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders, or other parties;

e rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Bank has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting
patterns at previous shareholders’ meeting

When it loses control of a subsidiary, the Bank performs the following:

e Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary.

e Derecognizes the book value of any non-controlling interests.

e Derecognizes the transfer difference accumulated in Owners’ Equity.

e Derecognizes the fair value to the next controlling party.

e Derecognizes the fair value of any investment retained.

e Derecognizes any gain or loss in the income statement.

e Reclassifies owners’ equity already booked in other comprehensive income to the profit or loss
statement, as appropriate.

The subsidiaries’ financial statements are prepared under the same accounting policies adopted
by the Bank. If the subsidiaries apply different accounting policies than those used by the Bank,
the necessary modifications shall be made to the subsidiaries’ financial statements to make
them comply with the accounting policies used by the Bank.

The non-controlling interests represent the portion not owned by the Bank relating to ownership
of the subsidiaries.
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Segmental Reporting

- Business segments represent distinguishable components of an entity that are engaged in providing
products or services which are subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other
segments and are measured in accordance with the reports used by executive directors and the main
decision makers at the Banks.

- Geographical segments are associated to products and services provided within a particular economic
environment, which are subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other economic
environments.

Net Interest Income

Interest income and expense for all financial instruments, except for those classified as held for
trading, or those measured or designated as at fair value through the statement of income, are
recognized in ‘Net Interest Income’ as ‘Interest Income’ and ‘Interest Expense’ in the statement
of income using the effective interest method. Interest on financial instruments measured as at
fair value through the statement of income is included within the fair value movement during
the period.

The effective interest rate (EIR) is the rate that discounts the estimated future cash flows
of the financial instrument through the expected life of the financial instrument or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial
liability. The future cash flows are estimated, taking into account all the contractual terms of
the instrument.

The interest income/ interest expense is calculated by applying the EIR to the gross carrying
amount of non-credit impaired financial assets (i.e. at the amortized cost of the financial asset
before adjusting for any expected credit loss allowance), or to the amortized cost of financial
liabilities. For credit-impaired financial assets, the interest income is calculated by applying the
EIR to the amortized cost of the credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. the gross carrying amount
less the allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs)). For financial assets originated or purchased
credit-impaired (POCI), the EIR reflects the ECLs in determining the future cash flows expected
to be received from the financial asset.

Interest income and expense in the Bank'’s consolidated statement of income also includes the
effective portion of fair value changes of derivatives designated as hedging instruments in
cash flow hedges of interest rate risk. For fair value hedges of interest rate risk related to
interest income and expense, the effective portion of the fair value changes of the designated
derivatives, as well as the fair value changes of the designated risk of the hedged item, are also
included in interest income and expense.



Net Commission Income

Fee and commission income and expense include fees other than those that are an integral part
of EIR. The fees included in this part of the Bank’s consolidated statement of income include,
among other things, fees charged for servicing a loan, non-utilization fees relating to loan
commitments when it is unlikely that these will result in a specific lending arrangement, and
loan syndication fees.

Fee and commission expenses concerning services are accounted for as the services are received.

The contracts with the customer that resulting the recognition of financial instruments it might
be a part of it related to the IFRS 9 or IFRS 15, in this case the recognition will be by part that
related to the IFRS 9, and the remaining part will be recognized as per IFRS 15.

Net Trading Income

Net trading income includes all gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial assets
and financial liabilities held for trading. The Bank has elected to present the full fair value
movement of trading assets and liabilities in trading income, including any related interest
income, expense, and dividends.

Net Income from Other Financial Instruments at Fair Value through the Statement of Income
Net income from other financial instruments at fair value through the statement of income
includes all gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through the statement of income except those that are held for trading.
The Group has elected to present the full fair value movement of assets and liabilities at fair
value through the statement of income in this line, including the related interest income,
expense, and dividends.

The fair value movement on derivatives held for economic hedging where hedge accounting is
not applied are presented in ‘Net income from other financial instruments at fair value through
the statement of income. However, for designated and effective fair value hedge accounting
relationships, the gains and losses on the hedging instrument are presented in the same line in
the statement of income as the hedged item. For designated and effective cash flow and net
investment hedge accounting relationships, the gains and losses of the hedging instrument,
including any hedging ineffectiveness included in the statement of income, are presented in
the same line as the hedged item that affects the statement of income.



Dividend Income

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established. This is the ex-
dividend date for listed equity securities, and usually the date when shareholders approve the
dividend for unlisted equity securities.

The presentation of dividend income in the consolidated statement of the statement of income
depends on the classification and measurement of the equity investment, i.e.:

e For equity instruments which are held for trading, dividend income is presented in the statement of
income in gain (loss) from financial assets through the statement of income;

e For equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income, dividend income
is presented in dividends from financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income; and

e for equity instruments not designated at fair value through other comprehensive income and not
held for trading, dividend income is presented as net income from other instruments at fair value
through the statement of income.

Financial Instruments
Initial recognition and measurement:

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the Bank’s consolidated statement
of financial position when the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Loans and advances to customers are recognized when they are recorded in the
customer’s account.

Recognized financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through the
statement of income) are added to, or deducted from, the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through the statement
of income are recognized immediately in profit or loss statement.

If the transaction price differs from fair value at initial recognition, the Bank will account for
such difference as follows:

e |f fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability or
based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, then the difference is
recognized in the statement of income on initial recognition (i.e. day 1 gain or loss);

¢ In all other cases, the fair value will be adjusted to bring it in line with the transaction price (i.e. day
1 gain or loss will be deferred by including it in the initial carrying amount of the asset or liability).

After initial recognition, the deferred gain or loss will be released to the statement of income
on a rational basis, only to the extent that it arises from a change in a factor (including time)
that market participants would take into account when pricing the asset or liability or when
derecognizing the instruments.



Financial Assets
Initial Recognition

All financial assets are recognized on the trading date when the purchase or sale of a financial
asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the
timeframe established by the market concerned. They and are initially measured at fair value,
plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through the
statement of income. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
classified as at fair value through the statement of income are recognized immediately in the
consolidated statement of income.

Subsequent Measurement

All recognized financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be subsequently
measured at amortized cost or fair value on the basis of the entity’s business model for managing
the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

Specifically:

e Debt instruments held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash
flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding (SPPI), are subsequently measured at amortized cost;

e Debt instruments held within a business model whose objective is both to collect the contractual
cash flows and to sell the debt instruments, and that have contractual cash flows that are SPPI, are
subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive income;

e All other debt instruments (e.g. debt instruments managed on a fair value basis, or held for sale) and
equity investments are subsequently measured at fair value through the statement of income.

However, the Bank may irrevocably make the following selection /designation at initial
recognition of a financial asset on an asset- by-asset basis:

e The Bank may irrevocably select to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
that is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business
combination to which IFRS 3 applies, in other comprehensive income; and

e The Bank may irrevocably designate a debt instrument that meets the amortized cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income criteria as measured at fair value through the statement of
income, if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch (referred to as the fair
value option).



Debt Instruments at Amortized Cost or at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
The Bank assesses the classification and measurement of a financial asset based on the contractual
cash flow characteristics of the asset and the Bank's business model for managing the asset.

For an asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, its contractual terms should give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding (SPPI).

For the purpose of SPPI test, principal is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition.
That principal amount may change over the life of the financial asset (e.g. if there are repayments
of principal). Interest consists of the consideration for the time value of money, for the credit
risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time, and
for other basic lending risks and costs, as well as a profit margin. The SPPI assessment is made
in the currency in which the financial asset is denominated.

Contractual cash flows that are SPPlI are consistent with a basic lending arrangement.
Contractual terms that introduce exposure to risks or volatility in the contractual cash flows
that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement, such as exposure to changes in equity prices
or commodity prices, do not give rise to contractual cash flows that are SPPI. An originated or
an acquired financial asset can be a basic lending arrangement irrespective of whether it is a
loan in its legal form.

Assessment of Business Models

An assessment of business models for managing financial assets is fundamental to the
classification of a financial asset. The Bank determines the business models at a level that
reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular business
objective. The Bank’s business model does not depend on management’s intentions for an
individual instrument; therefore, the business model assessment is performed at a higher level
of aggregation rather than on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

The Bank has more than one business model for managing its financial instruments, which
reflect how the Bank manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The Bank's
business models determine whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash
flows, selling financial assets, or both.

The Bank considers all relevant information available when making the business model
assessment. However, this assessment is not performed based on scenarios that the Bank does
not reasonably expect to occur, such as so-called ‘worst case’ or ‘stress case’ scenarios. The Bank
takes into account all relevant evidence available such as:

e Thestated policiesand objectives of the portfolio and application of those policieswhetherthe management
strategy focuses on obtaining contractual revenues, maintaining specific profit rate matching the profit of
financial assets with the period of financial liabilities that finance those assets.

e How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model
are evaluated and reported to the entity’s key management personnel;

¢ The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that
business model) and, in particular, the way in which those risks are managed; and

e How the business managers are compensated (e.g. whether the compensation is based on the fair
value of the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected).



Atinitialrecognition of afinancial asset, the Bank determines whether newly recognized financial
assets are part of an existing business model or whether they reflect the commencement of a
new business model. The Bank reassess its business models each reporting period to determine
whether the business models have changed since the preceding period.

When a debt instrument measured at fair value through other comprehensive income is
derecognized, the cumulative gain/loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income
is reclassified from equity to the statement of income. In contrast, for an equity investment
designated as measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the cumulative
gain/loss previously recognized in OCl is not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss but
transferred within equity.

Debt instruments that are subsequently measured at amortized cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income are subject to impairment.

Financial Assets at fair Value through the Profit or Loss
Financial assets at fair value through the statement of income are:

* Assets with contractual cash flows that are not SPPI; or/and

¢ Assets that are held in a business model other than held to collect contractual cash flows or held to
collect and sell; or

e Assets designated at fair value through the statement of income using the fair value option.

These assets are measured at fair value, with any gains/losses arising on re-measurement
recognized in the statement of income.

Reclassifications

If the business model under which the Bank holds financial assets changes, the financial assets
affected are reclassified. The classification and measurement requirements related to the new
category apply prospectively from the first day of the first reporting period following the
change in business model, which results in reclassifying the Bank's financial assets. During the
current financial year and previous accounting period, there was no change in the business
model under which the Bank holds financial assets; and therefore, no reclassifications were
made. The changes in the contractual cash flows are considered under the accounting policy on
the modification and de-recognition of financial assets described below.



Foreign Exchange Gains and Losses

The carrying amount of financial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in
that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period.
Specifically:

e For financial assets measured at amortized cost that are not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognized in the statement of income; and

e For debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income that are not
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences on the amortized cost of the debt
instrument are recognized in the statement of income. Other exchange differences are recognized in
other comprehensive income in the investments revaluation reserve;

e For financial assets measured at fair value through the statement of income that are not part of a
designated hedge accounting relationship, exchange differences are recognized in the statement of
income either in ‘net trading income’, if the asset is held for trading, or in ‘net income from other
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, if otherwise held at fair value through the
statement of income; and

e For equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, exchange
differences are recognized in other comprehensive income in the investments revaluation reserve.

Fair Value Option

A financial instrument with a fair value that can be reliably measured at fair value through
income statement (fair value option) can be classified at initial recognition even if the financial
instruments are not acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing.
The fair value option may be used for financial assets if it significantly eliminates or significantly
reduces the measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise have resulted in
the measurement of the asset or liability or recognized the related gain or loss on a different
basis (“accounting mismatch”). The fair value option for financial liabilities can be chosen in
the following cases:

¢ |f the selection leads to a significant cancellation or reduction of the accounting mismatch.

e |f the financial liabilities are part of a portfolio managed on a fair value basis, in accordance with a
documented risk management or investment strategy; or

e |f a derivative is included in the underlying financial or non-financial contract, and the derivative is
not closely related to the underlying contract.

These instruments cannot be reclassified from the fair value category through the statement
of income while retained or issued. Financial assets at fair value through the income statement
are recognized at fair value with any unrealized gain or loss arising from changes in fair value
recognized in investment income.



Impairment
The Bank recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses on the following financial
instruments that are not measured at fair value through the statement of income:

e Balances and deposits at banks and financial institutions;

¢ Direct credit facilities (loans and advances to customers);

¢ Financial assets at amortized cost (debt investment securities);

e Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income;

e Off statement of financial position exposure subject to credit risk (financial guarantee contracts
issued).

No impairment loss is recognized on equity investments.

With the exception of purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets (which
are considered separately below), ECLs are required to be measured through a loss allowance
at an amount equal to:

¢ 12-month ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that results from those default events on the financial instrument that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date, (referred to as Stage 1); or

e Full lifetime ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that results from all possible default events over the life of the
financial instrument, (referred to as Stage 2 and Stage 3).

A loss allowance for full lifetime ECL is required for a financial instrument if the credit risk
on that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. For all other
financial instruments, ECLs are measured at an amount equal to the 12-month ECL

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of credit losses. These are
measured as the present value of the difference between the cash flows due to the Group under
the contract and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive arising from the weighting of
multiple future economic scenarios, discounted at the asset’s EIR.

For unutilized ceilings, the ECL is the difference between the present value of the difference
between the contractual cash flows that are due to the Bank if the holder of the commitment
draws down the loan and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive if the loan is utilized;
and

For financial guarantee contracts, the ECL is the difference between the expected payments
to reimburse the holder of the guaranteed debt instrument less any amounts that the Bank
expects to receive from the holder, the client, or any other party.

The Bank measures ECL on an individual basis, or on a collective basis for portfolios of loans
that share similar economic risk characteristics. The measurement of the loss allowance is based
on the present value of the asset’s expected cash flows using the asset’s original EIR, regardless
of whether it is measured on an individual basis or a collective basis.

When calculating ECL against credit exposures, the resulting of the calculation shall be compared
based on IFRS 9 and the instructions of Central Bank of Jordan (2009/47, dated on December, 10
2009 for each stage separately and the most severe results should be taken, debt instruments
that issued by Jordanian government are excluded from the calculation in addition to any
other credit exposures with the Jordanian government.



Credit-impaired Financial Assets

A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Credit-impaired financial
assets are referred to as Stage 3 assets. Evidence of credit-impairment includes observable data
about the following events:

e Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

A breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

The Bank, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;

The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties; or

The purchase of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event. Instead, the combined effect of several
events may have caused financial assets to become credit-impaired. The Bank assesses whether
debt instruments that are financial assets measured at amortized cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income are credit-impaired at each reporting date. To assess if sovereign
and corporate debt instruments are credit impaired, the Bank considers factors such as bond
yields, credit ratings, and the ability of the borrower to raise funding.

A loan is considered credit-impaired when a concession is granted to the borrower due to a
deterioration in the borrower’s financial condition, unless there is evidence that as a result
of granting the concession, the risk of not receiving the contractual cash flows has reduced
significantly, and there are no other indicators of impairment. For financial assets where
concessions are contemplated but not granted, the asset is deemed credit-impaired when there
is observable evidence of credit-impairment including meeting the definition of default. The
definition of default includes unlikeliness to pay indicators and a back- stop if amounts are
overdue for 90 days or more. However, in cases where the assets impairment is not recognized
after 90 days overdue are supported by reasonable information.

Purchased or Originated Credit-Impaired (POCI) Financial Assets

POCI financial assets are treated differently because the asset is credit-impaired at initial
recognition. For these assets, the Bank recognizes all changes in lifetime ECL since initial
recognition as a loss allowance with any changes recognized in the statement of income. A
favorable change for such assets creates an impairment gain.

Definition of Default

Critical to the determination of ECL is the definition of default. The definition of default is used
in measuring the amount of ECL and in the determination of whether the loss allowance is
based on 12-month or lifetime ECL, as default is a component of the probability of default (PD)
which affects both the measurement of ECLs and the identification of a significant increase in
credit risk below.



The Bank considers the following as constituting an event of default:

* The borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the Bank; or
e The borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Bank in full.

The definition of default is appropriately tailored to reflect different characteristics of different
types of assets. Overdrafts are considered as being past due once the customer has breached
an advised limit or has been advised of a limit smaller than the current amount outstanding.

When assessing if the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligation, the Bank takes into
account both qualitative and quantitative indicators. The information assessed depends on the
type of the asset. For example, in corporate lending, a qualitative indicator used is the breach
of covenants, which is not relevant for retail lending. Quantitative indicators, such as overdue
status and non-payment on another obligation of the same counterparty are key inputs in
this analysis. The Bank uses a variety of sources of information to assess default that is either
developed internally or obtained from external sources.

Significant Increase in Credit Risk

The Bank monitors all financial assets, issued loan commitments, and financial guarantee contracts
that are subject to the impairment requirements to assess whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit risk,
the Bank measures the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.

The Bank’s accounting policy is not to use the practical expedient that financial assets with ‘low’
credit risk at the reporting date are deemed not to have had a significant increase in credit
risk. As a result, the Bank monitors all financial assets, issued loan commitments, and financial
guarantee contracts that are subject to impairment for significant increase in credit risk.

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Bank compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
at the reporting date, based on the remaining maturity of the instrument, with the risk of a
default occurring that was anticipated for the remaining maturity at the current reporting
date when the financial instrument was first recognized. In making this assessment, the Bank
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort, based on the Bank’s historical experience and expert credit assessment
including forward-looking information.

Multiple economic scenarios form the basis of determining the probability of default at initial
recognition and at subsequent reporting dates. Different economic scenarios will lead to a
different probability of default. It is the weighting of these different scenarios that forms the
basis of a weighted average probability of default that is used to determine whether credit risk
has significantly increased.



For corporate lending, forward-looking information includes the future prospects of the
industries in which the Bank’s counterparties operate, obtained from economic expert reports,
financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar organizations,
as well as consideration of various internal and external sources of actual and forecast
economic information. For retail lending, forward-looking information includes the same
economic forecasts as corporate lending with additional forecasts of local economic indicators,
particularly for regions with a concentration to certain industries, as well as internally generated
information of customer payment behavior. The Bank allocates its counterparties to a relevant
internal credit risk grade depending on their credit quality. The quantitative information is a
primary indicator of significant increase in credit risk and is based on the change in lifetime PD
by comparing:

® The remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date; with

e The remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated based on facts and circumstances

at the time of initial recognition of the exposure.

The PDs used are forward looking, and the Bank uses the same methodologies and data used
to measure the loss allowance for ECL.

The qualitative factors that indicate significant increase in credit risk are reflected in PD models
on a timely basis. However the Bank still considers separately some qualitative factors to assess
if credit risk has increased significantly. For corporate lending, there is particular focus on assets
that are included on a ‘watch list’. An exposure is on a watch list once there is a concern that
the creditworthiness of the specific counterparty has deteriorated. For retail lending, the Bank
considers the expectation of forbearance and payment holidays, credit scores and events such
as unemployment, bankruptcy, divorce or death.

Given that a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition is a relative measure, a
given change, in absolute terms, in the PD will be more significant for a financial instrument
with a lower initial PD than for a financial instrument with a higher PD.

As a backstop when an asset becomes more than (30) days past due, the Bank considers that
a significant increase in credit risk has occurred, and the asset is in stage 2 of the impairment
model, i.e. the loss allowance is measured as the lifetime ECL.

Modification and De-recognition of Financial Assets

A modification of a financial asset occurs when the contractual terms governing the cash
flows of a financial asset are renegotiated or otherwise modified between initial recognition
and maturity of the financial asset. A modification affects the amount and/or timing of the
contractual cash flows either immediately or at a future date. In addition, the introduction or
adjustment of existing covenants of an existing loan would constitute a modification even if
these new or adjusted covenants do not yet affect the cash flows immediately but may affect
the cash flows depending on whether the covenant is or is not met (e.g. a change to the
increase in the interest rate that arises when covenants are breached).



The Bank renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulty to maximize collection and minimize
the risk of default. A loan forbearance is granted in cases where although the borrower made all
reasonable efforts to pay under the original contractual terms, there is a high risk of default, or
default has already happened, and the borrower is expected to be able to meet the revised terms.
The revised terms in most of the cases include an extension of the maturity of the loan, changes
to the timing of the cash flows of the loan (principal and interest repayment), reduction in the
amount of cash flows due (principal and interest forgiveness) and amendments to covenants. The
Bank has an established forbearance policy, which applies for corporate and retail lending.

When a financial asset is modified, the Bank assesses whether this modification results in
derecognition. In accordance with the Bank’s policy, a modification results in derecognition
when it gives rise to substantially different terms. To determine if the modified terms are
substantially different from the original contractual terms, the Bank considers the following:

e Qualitative factors, such as contractual cash flows after modification are no longer SPPI, change in
currency or change of counterparty, the extent of change in interest rates, maturity, covenants. If
these do not clearly indicate a substantial modification, then;

¢ A quantitative assessment is performed to compare the present value of the remaining contractual
cash flows under the original terms with the contractual cash flows under the revised terms, both
amounts discounted at the original effective interest.

In the case where the financial asset is derecognized, the loss allowance for ECL is re-measured
at the date of derecognition to determine the net carrying amount of the asset at that date. The
difference between this revised carrying amount and the fair value of the new financial asset
with the new terms will lead to a gain or loss on derecognition. The new financial asset will have
a loss allowance measured based on 12-month ECL except in the rare occasions where the new
loan is considered to be originated- credit impaired. This applies only in the case where the fair
value of the new loan is recognized at a significant discount to its revised per mount because
there remains a high risk of default which has not been reduced by the modification. The
Bank monitors credit risk of modified financial assets by evaluating qualitative and quantitative
information, such as if the borrower is in past due status under the new terms.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified, and the modification does not
result in derecognition, the Bank determines if the financial asset’s credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition by comparing:

The remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data at initial recognition and the original contractual
terms; with The remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the modified terms.

For financial assets modified as part of the Bank’s forbearance policy, where modification did
not result in derecognition, the estimate of PD reflects the Bank’s ability to collect the modified
cash flows taking into account the Bank’s previous experience of similar forbearance action, as
well as various behavioral indicators, including the borrower’s payment performance against
the modified contractual terms. If the credit risk remains significantly higher than what was
expected at initial recognition, the loss allowance will continue to be measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECL. The loss allowance on forborne loans will generally only be measured
based on 12-month ECL when there is evidence of the borrower’s improved repayment behavior
following modification leading to a reversal of the previous significant increase in credit risk.



Where a modification does not lead to derecognition, the Bank calculates the modification
gain/loss comparing the gross carrying amount before and after the modification (excluding
the ECL allowance). Then the Bank measures ECL for the modified asset, where the expected
cash flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the expected
cash shortfalls from the original asset.

The Bank derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the asset’s cash flows
expire (including expiry arising from a modification with substantially different terms), or when the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are transferred
to another entity. If the Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Bank recognizes its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Bank retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Bank continues to
recognize the financial asset and recognizes a collateralized borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain/
loss that had been recognized in OCl and accumulated in equity is recognized in profit or
loss, with the exception of equity investment designated as measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income, where the cumulative gain/loss previously recognized in OCl is
not subsequently reclassified to the statement of income.

Write-off

Financial assets are written off when the Bank has no reasonable expectations of recovering
the financial asset. This is the case when the Bank determines that the borrower does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. The Bank may apply
enforcement activities to financial assets written off. Recoveries resulting from the Group’s
enforcement activities will result in impairment gains.

Presentation of Allowance for ECL in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

e For financial assets measured at amortized cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the
assets;

e For debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income: no loss allowance is
recognized in the statement of financial position as the carrying amount is at fair value. However, the
loss allowance is included as part of the revaluation amount in the investments revaluation reserve.

¢ For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: as a provision; and

e Where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and the Bank cannot
identify the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from those on the drawn component:
the Bank presents a combined loss allowance for both components. The combined amount is presented
as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn component. Any excess of the loss allowance
over the gross amount of the drawn component is presented as a provision.



Financial Liabilities and Equity
Debt and equity instruments issued are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

A financial liability is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset, or to
exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions potentially
unfavorable to the Bank, or a contract that will or may be settled in the Bank's own equity
instruments and is a non-derivative contract for which the Bank is or may be obliged to deliver
a variable number of its own equity instruments, or a derivative contract over own equity
that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash (or another
financial asset) for a fixed number of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Equity Instruments

Paid up Capital

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Bank are recognized at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Treasury Shares

Repurchase of the Bank’s own equity instruments is recognized and deducted directly in equity.
No gain or loss is recognized in statement of income on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation
of the Bank own equity instruments.

Compound Instruments

The component parts of compound instruments (e.g. convertible notes) issued by the Bank are
classified separately as financial liabilities and equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
A conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is an equity
instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing
market interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments. In the case there are non-closed
related embedded derivatives, these are separated first with the remainder of the financial
liability being recorded on an amortized cost basis using the effective interest method until
extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date.

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at fair value through the statement
of income or ‘other financial liabilities’.



Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through the Statement of Income

Financial liabilities are classified as at fair value through the statement of income when the
financial liability is (i) held for trading, or (ii) it is designated as at fair value through the
statement of income. A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

e It has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or

¢ On initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Bank manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e Itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial liability, other than a financial liability held for trading, or contingent consideration
that may be paid by an acquirer as part of a business combination, may be designated as at fair
value through the statement of income upon initial recognition if:

e Such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

e The financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is
managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Bank’s documented
risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on
that basis; or

e It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 permits the entire
hybrid (combined) contract to be designated as at fair value through the statement of income.

Financial liabilities at fair value through the statement of income are stated at fair value, with
any gains/losses arising on re-measurement recognized in the statement of income to the extent
that they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain/loss recognized in the
statement of income incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and is included in
the ‘net income from other financial instruments at fair value through the statement of income
line item in the statement of income.

However, for non-derivative financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss,
the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability attributable to changes in the credit
risk of that liability is recognized in OCl, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the
liability’s credit risk in OCl would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in the statement of
income. The remaining amount of change in the fair value of liability is recognized in the statement
of income. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognized
in OCl are not subsequently reclassified to statement of income; instead, they are transferred to
retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability.

For issued loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts designated as at fair value
through profit or loss, all gains and losses are recognized in statement of income.

In making the determination of whether recognizing changes in the liability’s credit risk in
other comprehensive income will create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss,
the Bank assesses whether it expects that the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk will
be offset in statement of income by a change in the fair value of another financial instrument
measured at fair value through the statement of income.



Other Financial Liabilities

Other financial liabilities, including deposits and borrowings, are initially measured at fair value,
net of transaction costs. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition. For details on EIR, see the “net interest income section” above.

Derecognition of Financial Liabilities

The Bank derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Bank’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is recognized in the
consolidated statement of income.

When the Bank exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one
with substantially different terms, such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of
the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the
Bank accounts for substantial modification of terms of an existing liability or part of it as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new liability. It is
assumed that the terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted
using the original effective rate, is at least 10 percent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Bank enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments some of which are held for
trading while others are held to manage its exposure to interest rate risk; credit risk; and foreign
exchange rate risk. Held derivatives include foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate
swaps, cross currency interest rate swaps, and credit default swaps.

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into
and are subsequently re-measured to their fair value at each balance sheet date. The resulting
gain/loss is recognized in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and
effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss
depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. The Bank designates certain derivatives as
either hedges of the fair value of recognized assets, liabilities or firm commitments (fair value
hedges), hedges of highly probable forecast transactions, hedges of foreign currency risk of
firm commitments (cash flow hedges), or hedges of net investments in foreign operations (net
investment hedges).

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognized as a financial asset whereas a derivative
with a negative fair value is recognized as a financial liability. A derivative is presented as a non-
current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than
12 months, and it is not expected to be realized or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives
are presented as current assets or current liabilities.



Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in financial liabilities or other non-financial asset host contracts are
treated as separate derivatives when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to
those of the host contracts, and the host contracts are not measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

An embedded derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the
remaining maturity of the hybrid instrument to which the embedded derivative relates is more
than 12 months and is not expected to be realized or settled within 12 months. Other embedded
derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities.

Financial Guarantee Contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments
to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by a group entity are initially measured at their fair values
and, if not designated as at fair value through profit or loss and not arising from a transfer of
a financial asset, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

¢ The amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9; and
e Theamount initially recognized less, where appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognized
in accordance with the Bank’s revenue recognition policies.

Financial guarantee contracts not designated at fair value through profit or loss are presented
as provisions in the consolidated statement of financial position, and the re-measurement is
presented in other revenue.

The Bank has not designated any financial guarantee contracts as at fair value through Income
statement.

Commitments to Provide a Loan at a Below-Market Interest Rate

Commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate are initially measured at
their fair values and, if not designated as at fair value through the statement of income, are
subsequently measured at the higher of:

e The amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9; and
e The amount initially recognized less, where appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognized
in accordance with the Bank’s revenue recognition policies, which is higher.

Commitments to provide a loan below market rate not designated at fair value through the
statement of income are presented as provisions in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the re-measurement is presented in other revenue.

The Bank has not designated any commitments to provide a loan below market rate designated
at fair value through the statement of income.



Hedge Accounting

The Bank designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of foreign currency
risk and interest rate risk in fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net investments
in foreign operations, as appropriate. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments
are accounted for as cash flow hedges. The Bank does not apply fair value hedge accounting
of portfolio hedges of interest rate risk. In addition, the Bank does not use the exemption to
continue using IAS 39 hedge accounting rules, i.e. the Bank applies IFRS 9 hedge accounting
rules in full.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Bank documents the relationship between the
hedging instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its
strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge
and on an ongoing basis, the Bank documents whether the hedging instrument is effective in
offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged
risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge effectiveness
requirements:

* There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;

¢ The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship;
and

* The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged
item that the Bank actually hedges, and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the Bank actually
uses to hedge that quantity of the hedged item.

The Bank rebalances a hedging relationship in order to comply with the hedge ratio
requirements when necessary. In such cases discontinuation may apply to only part of the
hedging relationship. For example, the hedge ratio might be adjusted in such a way that some
of the volume of the hedged item is no longer part of a hedging relationship, hence hedge
accounting is discontinued only for the volume of the hedged item that is no longer part of the
hedging relationship.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the
hedge ratio but the risk management objective for that designated hedging relationship
remains the same, the Bank adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e. rebalances
the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying criteria again.

In some hedge relationships, the Bank designates only the intrinsic value of options. In this case,
the fair value change of the time value component of the option contract is deferred in OCl,
over the term of the hedge, to the extent that it relates to the hedged item and is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss when the hedged item does not result in the recognition of a non-
financial item. The Bank’s risk management policy does not include hedges of items that result
in the recognition of non-financial items, because the Bank’s risk exposures relate to financial
items only.

The hedged items designated by the Bank are time-period related hedged items, which means
that the amount of the original time value of the option that relates to the hedged item is
amortized from equity to profit or loss on a rational basis (e.g. straight-line) over the term of
the hedging relationship.



In some hedge relationships, the Bank excludes from the designation the forward element
of forward contracts or the currency basis spread of cross currency hedging instruments. In
this case, a similar treatment is applied to the one applied for the time value of options. The
treatment for the forward element of a forward contract and the currency basis element is
optional, and the option is applied on a hedge- by- hedge basis, unlike the treatment for the
time value of the options which is mandatory. For hedge relationships with forwards, or foreign
currency derivatives such as cross currency interest rate swaps, where the forward element or
the currency basis spread is excluded from the designation, the Bank generally recognizes the
excluded element in OCI.

The fair values of the derivative instruments used for hedging purposes and movements in the
hedging reserve are determined in equity.

Fair Value Hedges

The fair value change on qualifying hedging instruments is recognized in the statement of
income except when the hedging instrument hedges an equity instrument designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income in which case it is recognized in OCl. The Bank has
not designated fair value hedge relationships where the hedging instrument hedges an equity
instrument designated at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The carrying amount of a hedged item not already measured at fair value is adjusted for the
fair value change attributable to the hedged risk with a corresponding entry in profit or loss.
For debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the carrying
amount is not adjusted as it is already at fair value, but the part of the fair value gain or loss
on the hedged item associated with the hedged risk is recognized in profit or loss instead of
OCIl. When the hedged item is an equity instrument designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the hedging gain/loss remains in other comprehensive income to match
that of the hedging instrument.

Where hedging gains/losses are recognized in the statement of income, they are recognized in
the same line as the hedged item.

The Bank discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof)
ceases to meet the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances
when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised. The discontinuation is
accounted for prospectively. The fair value adjustment to the carrying amount of hedged items
for which the EIR method is used (i.e. debt instruments measured at amortized cost or at fair
value through other comprehensive income) arising from the hedged risk is amortized to profit
or loss commencing no later than the date when hedge accounting is discontinued.



Cash Flow Hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives and other qualifying hedging
instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognized in the cash flow
hedging reserve, a separate component of OCI, limited to the cumulative change in fair value
of the hedged item from inception of the hedge less any amounts recycled to profit or loss.

Amounts previously recognized in OCl and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit
or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the
recognized hedged item. If the Bank no longer expects the transaction to occur, that amount is
immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

The Bank discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or a part
thereof) ceases to meet the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes
instances when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or where
the occurrence of the designated hedged forecast transaction is no longer considered to be
highly probable. The discontinuation is accounted for prospectively. Any gain/loss recognized
in OCl and accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognized when the
forecast transaction is ultimately recognized in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is
no longer expected to occur, the gain/loss accumulated in equity is reclassified and recognized
immediately in profit or loss statement.

Hedges of Net Investments in Foreign Operations

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow
hedges. Any gain/loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge
is recognized in OCl and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve.

Gains and losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge
accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve are reclassified to the statement of
income in the same way as exchange differences relating to the foreign operation as described
above.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in the
consolidated statement of financial position, when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognized amounts and the Bank intends to either settle them on a net basis, or to realize
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Fiduciary Assets

Assets held in a fiduciary capacity are not recognized as assets of the Bank. Fees and commissions
received for administrating such assets are recognized in the income statement. A provision
is recognized for the decreases in the fair value of guaranteed fiduciary assets below their
original principal amount.

Management fees and commission are shown in the statements of income.



I Consolidated Financial Statements

Fair value

Fair value is defined as the price at which an asset is to be sold or paid to convert any of the
liabilities in a structured transaction between the market participants on the measurement
date, irrespective of whether the price can be realized directly or whether it is estimated using
another valuation technique. When estimating the fair value of an asset or liability, the Bank
takes into consideration when determining the price of any asset or liability whether market
participants are required to consider these factors at the measurement date. The fair value for
measurement and / or disclosure purposes in these financial statements is determined on the
same basis, except for measurement procedures that are similar to fair value procedures and
are not fair value such as fair value as used in IAS 36.

In addition, fair value measurements are classified for the purposes of financial reporting to
level (1), (2) or (3) based on the extent to which the inputs are clear concerning the fair value
measurements and the importance of inputs to the full fair value measurements. These are as
follows:

inputs: inputs derived from quoted (unadjusted) prices of identical assets or liabilities

Level (1 . . . .
(1) in active markets that an enterprise can obtain on the measurement date;

inputs: inputs derived from data other than quoted prices used at level 1 and
observable for assets or liabilities, either directly or indirectly;

Level (2)

Level (3) inputs: are inputs to assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market prices.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Bank has an obligation at the date of the consolidated
statement of financial position arising from a past event, and the costs to settle the obligation
are both probable and can be reliably measured.

End-of-Service Indemnity

- The basis for the computation of the provision for end of service indemnity is one month for each year
of service for employees not covered by social security law regulations.

- Compensation to employees is recorded in the provision for end of service indemnity when paid,
and the obligation provision incurred by the Bank for the end of service indemnity for employees is
recorded in the consolidated statement of income.
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Income Tax

- Tax expense comprises accrued tax and deferred taxes.

- Accrued tax is based on taxable profits, which may differ from accounting profits published in the
financial statements. Accounting profits may include non-taxable profits or tax non- deductible
expenses which may be exempted in the current or subsequent financial years, or accumulated losses
that are tax acceptable or items not subject to deduction for tax purposes.

- Tax is calculated based on tax rates and laws that are applicable in the country of operation.

- Deferred tax is the tax expected to be paid or recovered due to temporary differences between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates expected to be applied in the period
when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on the laws enacted or substantially enacted
at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position.

- The carrying values of deferred tax assets are reviewed at the date of the consolidated financial
statement and reduced to the extent that 